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You are holding in your hands the Annual Report
2006 of our company – and as such the first annual
report since the company went public on the Open
Market of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange.

This report is designed to demonstrate that we
always wish to provide both, you as shareholders
and the capital market in general, with high quali-
ty and transparent information on the develop-
ment of our group. Therefore, in addition to the
usual information on the group, this report also
provides more detailed information on certain
investments, such as details on the key restructu-
ring measures carried out. In supplying this infor-
mation we clearly exceed the requirements of the
Open Market. However, transparency for us also
means that we deal with difficulties and problems
honestly and speak about them openly.

The year 2006 was the founding year of our group.
With the acquisition of five investments, i.e. DFA
Transport and Logistik GmbH, Richard Scherpe
Group, GHOTEL Group, Grillo Peißenberg GmbH
and KWE Group, we have achieved annualized
group sales of about € 84 million. This develop-
ment has also continued in 2007:

• In March we took over Sauer Danfoss (Berching)
GmbH with annual sales of about € 35 million.
• In April we entered into an agreement with
KarstadtQuelle AG to take over the French Quelle

S.A.S. On successfully implementing this contract
we will have acquired our as of to date largest sub-
sidiary and one which operates solely abroad
Europe.

Both acquisitions represent significant milestones
in the firm’s history. We will achieve annualized
group sales of € 400 million, earned by around
1,800 employees.

Following these first two acquisitions, we are plan-
ning to acquire further businesses in changing and
special situations during the course of the year. In
doing this our goal is always to be a reliable partner
for strategic business spin-offs, in particular for
German and international groups. The takeovers
effected to date from sellers such as Deutsche Post
AG, KarstadtQuelle AG and Sauer Danfoss Inc.
demonstrate that we are on the right track in
achieving this goal.

As in the past year we expect three ‘mega trends’ to
be responsible for a sufficient number of attractive
takeover targets in 2007.

Dear shareholders and friends of AURELIUS,

Letter to the shareholders

General Part

[ ]SINCE FOUNDATION 

OF THE GROUP 7 NEW 

BUSINESSES ACQUIRED [ ]AURELIUS – THE PARTNER FOR

GROUP SPIN-OFFS
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These include:
• The continuing focus of large groups on their 

core businesses
• further increases in the number of businesses 

facing successor problems caused by the retire
ment of the so-called ‘Aufbaugeneration’ (the 
generation rebuilding Germany after World 
War II) and

• the increasing financing problems being expe
rienced by many mid-cap businesses caused by
the new equity requirements of banks (Basel II)

Of special significance for our group is the attrac-
tion and development of suitable employees. The
successful acquisition and restructuring of busin-
esses in changing and special situations require
employees who are not only highly qualified but
also highly motivated to carry out their often very
strenuous duties. Through a combination of
active entrepreneurship in the form of direct par-
ticipation in the performance of the business, a
continuous stream of new matters to address and
early leadership and decision-making responsibi-
lity, we were able to inspire over 20 employees in
the past year to take up senior positions in hol-
dings and subsidiaries. As a result of the group’s
strong growth, acquiring further people with lea-
dership qualities will continue to be a critical suc-
cess factor in the future.
Our share price experienced tremendous growth
in the past year. Following the listing of the shares
in June 2006 the first price was fixed at € 11.10.
Since then, the share price increased up to € 114.45
(as of December 31, 2006) and even hit € 240
(April 30, 2007).

In addition to the pleasant business develop-
ment, the rise in the share price was also due to
the low level of liquidity of our shares. One of our
goals for 2007 is to increase this trading liquidity.
Therefore the Board of Directors and the
Supervisory Board will propose a capital increase
from company funds at the next annual general
meeting. Part of the existing capital reserves are
to be transformed into ordinary share capital and
13 bonus shares issued to the shareholders for
each existing share. This equals a share split of
1:14.

Due to the high level of funds needed to finance
the strong growth of the group no dividend pay-
out will be proposed for the stub period passed at
the annual general meeting. If good performance
continues we are planning to pay a dividend from
the coming financial year.

We would be pleased if you would continue to
show your loyalty to us and accompany us on our
journey!

Munich, May 2007

Dr. Dirk Markus
Chairman of the Board of Directors

[ ]EMPLOYEES – OUR MOST 

IMPORTANT FACTOR OF SUCCESS
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Bericht aus den Beteiligungen

Dr. Dirk Markus
Chairman

On completion of a degree in business administra-
tion and a PhD at St. Gallen, Dr. Markus worked for
McKinsey & Company for five years. His work
focused on the planning and implementation of
cost reduction and recapitalization programs and
the implementation of new technologies. Sub-
sequently, he founded the Mercateo AG and as a
director was responsible for finance and corporate
development. After the successful sale of the com-
pany to E.on, Dr. Markus co-founded a first invest-
ment company listed at the stock market. As mem-
ber of the board liable for restructuring, he person-
ally accompanied ten companies, four of which he
acted as responsible managing director. Dr. Markus
is married and father of three small children.

Gert Purkert

Following a degree in physics in Leipzig and
Lausanne Mr. Purkert spent more than 3 years
working for McKinsey & Company and gained
experience in process improvement, cost-cutting
programs and strategic reorientation. After this he
was co-founder of equinet AG in Frankfurt, an
investment bank which today targets small and
medium-sized German companies and employs
about 120 professionals. As managing director of a
subsidiary he worked on equity investments and
M&A transactions. He has participated in more
than 15 transactions and acted in two cases as the
local Managing Director.

The Board of Directors
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Bericht aus den BeteiligungenReport of the Supervisory Board

Dear shareholders,

In the stub period 2006 the Supervisory Board and the Board of Directors convened three times to dis-
cuss the state of the company, the strategic development of the business lines and the business plan
for the following year.

The Board of Directors provided comprehensive information to the Supervisory Board on a regular
and timely basis. Details on the development of the business and the economic situation of the com-
pany and its individual business lines were provided in comprehensive reports in the respective mee-
tings. Matters for which a meeting could not be arranged were reported on or voted on in writing or
in telephone conference calls.
In addition, the Supervisory Board reviewed the business plan, in particular with regard to the invest-
ments acquired during the year, and discussed the associated measures with the Board of Directors.
Where the approval of the Supervisory Board was required, this was granted following a comprehen-
sive examination of the matter in hand.

The consolidated financial statements and the group directors’ report of AURELIUS as at December 31,
2006 drawn up on a voluntary basis in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) have been audited by Deloitte & Touche GmbH, Munich. The audit did not lead to any signifi-
cant reservations. Therefore the consolidated financial statements were issued with an unqualified
audit opinion with the exception of a reservation concerning the omission of entity-specific disclosu-
res in accordance with IFRS 3. The financial statements of AURELIUS AG prepared in accordance with
the German Commercial Code (HGB) are not required by law to be audited. They have been reviewed
by the auditors as part of the audit of the consolidated financial statements. There were no signifi-
cant audit findings. For the purpose of performing a planned a capital increase from company funds,
the balance sheet as of December 31, 2006 was audited by the auditors. The audit did not lead to any
significant reservations. Therefore the balance sheet of AURELIUS AG as of December 31, 2006 was
issued with an unqualified opinion.

Both this documentation and the auditors report were made available to the Supervisory Board.They
were discussed in a joint meeting of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board in the presen-
ce of the auditors. Following its own examination, the Supervisory Board ascertained that there were
no reservations and agreed with the auditor’s evaluation of the audit. It approved the financial state-
ments prepared by the Board of Directors. The financial statements are therefore adopted.

The Supervisory Board would like to express its thanks to the members of the Board of Directors and
to all employees for their high level of personal commitment and their performance in the past year,
and wish them well in the coming year in achieving their goals

Munich, May 2007

Dirk Roesing

General part 4-9
Management discussion and analysis 10-32
Corporate governance 33-35
Consolidated income statement 37
Consolidated balance sheet 38-39
Consolidated cash flow statement 40-41
Consolidated statement of changes in equity 42
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 43-101
Imprint 102



AURELIUS Annual Report 2006Translation of the German Report

8

Bericht aus den BeteiligungenThe Supervisory Board

Dirk Roesing
Chairman

After studying business administration, Dirk Roesing began his working career in 1986 in the Group
Auditing and Treasury departments at Daimler Benz AG. From 1994 to 1996 he headed the
Controlling and M&A division at VOBIS AG, a company of the Metro Group. After that he worked as
European Finance Director and German CEO of the international Amer-Sport Group. From 1997 to
2003, Dirk Roesing was CFO of telegate. Since 2003 he has been CEO of SHS Viveon AG which is
listed in the Prime Standard of the Deutsche Börse.

Eugen M. Angster 
Deputy Chairman

Eugen M. Angster holds a master’s degree in Geology from the University of Munich and an MBA
from the European University Geneva. He took over the leadership of the German Centre “Haus der
Deutschen Wirtschaft” in Shanghai in the early 1990s. Following this he was a member of senior
management for several years with Deutsche Telekom AG, responsible for the Asian and Pacific
division. Since 2001 he has been working on the restructuring of companies immediately prior to
and during insolvency. As director of Interim International GmbH, he heads the restructuring of
several mid-cap businesses and is Chairman of the Board of Directors of BRSI (Bundesvereinigung
Restrukturierung, Sanierung und Interim Management) (German Restructuring Association).

Sven Fritsche 

Attorney at law and tax consultant Sven Fritsche has been a partner at RP RICHTER & PARTNER
since June 2005. Prior to that, he was a partner at Peters, Schönberger & Partner GbR in Munich for
many years. His professional focus is on private equity and venture capital, he executes company
acquisitions and advises small and medium-sized companies in the field of M&A. Mr. Fritsche also
has many years of experience as a restructuring and corporate law consultant.
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Management discussion and 
analysis of  AURELIUS AG
for the stub period 2006

AURELIUS acquires KWE Stahl- und Industriebau GmbH & Co. KG 
from Bauwens Real Estate Group

AURELIUS AG  successfully places a capital increase 
(transaction volume € 8,8 mio. )

Initial trading of the AURELIUS share at Frankfurt stock exchange

AURELIUS acquires DFA Transport und Logistik GmbH from the Hauser family

AURELIUS acquires Richard Scherpe Group from the Scherpe family

AURELIUS acquires  GHOTEL Group (formerly Deutsche Post Wohnen)

AURELIUS acquires Grillo Peißenberg GmbH

Foundation of AURELIUS AG

June 26, 2006

March 20, 2006

October 2006

November 8, 2006

December 2006

September 2006

August 2006

July 2006

Milestones of AURELIUS
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Development of the share
Since the initial public offering in June 2006 the movement in the share price of AURELIUS AG has
been very favorable. With a rise in the share price of 931% during the stub period and a further
increase of 110% until April 30, 2007 the growth in our share price by far exceeds both other listed
holding companies and the SDAX, DAX and the LPX 50, an index of the 50 largest listed industrial
holding companies worldwide.

Company data

WKN AOJ K2A

ISIN DE000A0JK2A8

Ticker symbol AR4

Trading exchanges Xetra, Frankfurt, Berlin-Bremen, Hamburg, München, Stuttgart

Stock market tier Open Market

Ordinary share capital € 613.450 

Number and class of shares 613,450 non-par value bearer shares 

Start of trading June 26, 2006
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Course of the Business and state of the company
Investment market and industry

The European Private Equity and Venture Capital Association (EVCA), Brussels, noted another record
year for the European investment industry: private equity companies invested € 50.3 billion (2005:
€ 47.0 billion) in Europe in 2006 and brought in a record € 90.0 billion in new funds (2005: € 60.0
billion). In particular the ‘early stage’-area experienced strong growth in the past year with € 16 bil-
lion.

The year 2006 was also another record year for financial investors in Germany: the number of pri-
vate equity transactions rose by 34 % from 139 in 2005 to 186 in 2006. The value of these private
equity investments increased even more by 61 % from € 31.6 billion to € 50.9 billion.

According to forecasts by industry experts, the number of private equity transactions will also fur-
ther increase in Germany over the next 18 months. 55 % of those surveyed expect the number of
deals with a maximum volume of € 400 million to remain unchanged at high levels in the next 18
months and 45 % expect further increases. With regard to transactions with a volume exceeding
€ 400 million, 40 % of those surveyed expect continuing high levels. In this segment 50 % even
expect growth in the number of transactions. According to the industry experts, the main driving
force behind this development is the continuing high level of possible takeover candidates in the
mid-cap sector and the high levels of liquidity still apparent in the foreign capital markets in com-
bination with continuing low interest rates.

AURELIUS’s business model
The AURELIUS Group focuses on a certain segment of the investment market, namely the acquisi-
tion of businesses in changing and special situations. Examples of this are classical turnaround
candidates, i.e. businesses on the de-investment lists of groups, those with unresolved succession
problems or businesses which require high levels of rationalization investments. These businesses
have often been making losses for some time when AURELIUS takes them over. In some cases
unsuccessful attempts have been made at restructuring, or at leading the businesses back to prof-
itability. AURELIUS is therefore usually in a position to acquire these businesses below book value,
in some cases at negative purchase prices.

This kind of pricing means the losses which arise after the takeover and the costs of the restructur-
ing are generally financed (in part) by a so-called seller’s restructuring contribution.

1Results of a survey by Ernst & Young, which examined the German private equity market (buy-outs and secondary buy-outs).

2According to a survey by KPMG of the major private equity institutions, banks and mezzanine providers.

12



Management discussion and analysis

A clear difference from the target companies of the so-called private equity companies is that
AURELIUS acquires primarily businesses in changing and special situations whose performance is
often weak and which require restructuring.

It is AURELIUS’s strategy to keep its investments in the medium to long term and as such, as an
industrial holding, to act as a reliable partner – a ‘good home’. AURELIUS restructures the newly
acquired investments and leads them back to profitability by solving the specific operational
and/or structural problems in order then to position them once again in the market as competitive
businesses with strong performance. By contrast the private equity industry aims at optimizing
profits of the companies acquired by financial engineering, cost cutting and then the final profit-
making exit.

In general, AURELIUS is not subject to a de-investment constraint, since the purchase price is usu-
ally low and financed from equity. Overall the private equity companies tend more to be potential
purchasers of the companies restructured by AURELIUS rather than competitors on the purchasing
side.

The supply market will remain stable since the key factors leading to spin-offs from groups or
takeovers of family businesses in line with the AURELIUS model are not influenced by an econom-
ic boom. We consider these factors to be:

- the focusing by the large groups on their core businesses
- the financing crises being experienced by many mid-cap businesses as a result of the 

restrained loan policies of banks (Basel II) and
- an increasing number of unresolved successor problems following the demographic 

development in Germany.

The selling market, that is the demand for restructured businesses with improved performance,
fluctuates. As a rule this depends on the economic environment and the prosperity of the individ-
ual industry. AURELIUS will always be able to find interested parties from the respective industry,
so-called strategic investors, for the restructured businesses. However, we also expect an increas-
ing number of interested parties from the private equity sector, who, based on the restructuring
success of AURELIUS, also see further earnings and growth potential, or who are following ‘buy and
build’ strategies.

Translation of the German Report
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[ ]AURELIUS – A  „GOOD HOME“
FOR BUSINESSES 

IN CHANGING AND 
SPECIAL SITUATIONS 
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As such, AURELIUS’s business model works under both weak as well as strong market conditions.
Under weak market conditions there tends to be more businesses in crisis so that the acquisitions
are generally easier than in a prosperous environment. However, the restructuring must then also
be carried out in a more difficult environment. This requires specialist restructuring knowledge
which AURELIUS can provide.

In a positive environment there are fewer businesses in crisis and weaknesses are easier to hide.
The restructuring itself is much easier in times of economic growth since sales, above all, are boo-
sted by the economic stimulus, the success of the restructuring become evident more quickly and
demand for restructured business grows.

In selecting its targets AURELIUS does not restrict itself to specific industries but concentrates on
the acquisition of mid-cap businesses with sales of € 20 million to about € 500 million. By the end
of 2006 five such companies had been acquired since the founding of the company. In 2007
purchase contracts have been concluded for the acquisition of another two companies of increa-
sing size.

At all stages – from the acquisition, through to the operative management and the restructuring,
right up to the exit – AURELIUS follows the policy of deploying its own employees to carry out, con-
trol and, as such, to bear responsibility for all significant processes. To this end AURELIUS is conti-
nuously building up know-how in the individual departments. This accelerates the necessary deci-
sions and creates a competitive advantage for AURELIUS. This commences with the pre-selection of
interesting target companies.

From the potential of some 400 companies per year, which are offered to AURELIUS through its
own network, directly by groups, by contacts to M&A advisors and investment banks or which the
acquisition department of AURELIUS finds in the market, about 80 make it onto the shortlist. The
following due diligence process is carried out solely by the company’s own personnel from the spe-
cialist departments’ analysis, legal, tax and finance.

Following acquisition, AURELIUS sends experienced interim managers into the newly acquired
companies in order to implement restructuring together with the employees of the acquired com-
panies within the shortest period possible.

In the first few months the interim manager is supported strongly by the AURELIUS task force, a
group of highly specialized restructuring experts.

Depending on the specific situation of the business various restructuring measures are introduced
and implemented shortly after acquisition. These measures include:

- Setting up new management structures
- Negotiating with banks on waivers and restructuring financing
- Establishing meaningful supplier relationships with settlement of old liabilities and 

possible partial waivers.



Management discussion and analysisTranslation of the German Report

15

Bericht aus den Beteiligungen- Employee contributions
- Redundancy plans, agreements with works councils and unions
- Specific de-investment
- Improvements in working capital
- Reorganization of production processes
- Replacement of group internal relationships
- Analysis of and frequently the introduction of modern EDP systems
- Streamlining the production portfolio
- Development of new sales and marketing concepts
- Targeted debt collection or sale of aged receivables

General part 4-9
Management discussion and analysis 10-32
Corporate governance 33-35
Consolidated income statement 37
Consolidated balance sheet 38-39
Consolidated cash flow statement 40-41
Consolidated statement of changes in equity 42
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 43-97
Imprint 98

Bericht aus den BeteiligungenThe restructuring process follows the 3-phase model below:

The 3-phase model for sustainable growth

1. Securing 
immediate survival

- Ensuring short and
mid-term liquidity

- Implementation of an 
effective controlling 

- Improved working capital 
management

- Focus on profitable 
products and services

- Strengthening sales and 
professionalize marketing

- Optimizing processes

- Adjustment of cost structures

- Professionalize management

- Alignment of qualitative 
growth

- Sustainable stabilisation of 
day-to-day business

- Continuous coaching to carry 
on the improvement process

- Realization of growth 
potentials

Support of operations by AURELIUS managers and
specialized ‘task force’

Handing over responsibility to
external or previous managers

2. Structural adaption
and repositioning

3. Profit oriented
business operations
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Financial highlights

Bericht aus den Beteiligungen

Bericht aus den Beteiligungen

(k€)

Sales

Sales *

Employees** (number)

Sales* per employee**

EDBITA

Net income for the year

Earnings per share

Assets

Liabilities

Equity***

Equity ratio*** ( %)

Services & Industrial Other Total
Solution Production

Overview of the key financial ratios of the AURELIUS Group

12.492

52.993

396

134

2.652

1.235

25.382

19.130

0

0%

9.040

30.447

261

117

1.948

1.034

32.967

30.828

0

0%

182

243

2

121

-384

-330

4.181

1.015

11.558

269%

21.713

83.683

659

127

4.216

1.939

3,16

62.531

50.973

11.558

19%

*Annualised
**Year-end 2006
***Incl. minority shareholders

After a company has successfully been restructured the interim manager steps down and hands
over operational responsibility to a new management, trained and put in place by AURELIUS or
passes it back to the previous management.

The managing director put in place by AURELIUS usually holds a stake in the restructured com-
pany, whereby he must take up a proportional share of the actual purchase price. This allows the
manager to identify strongly with ‘his’ company and ensures that motivation and commitment
are high.

Details on the status of the companies acquired in line with the value chain depicted above are
provided from page 23 onwards.
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Bericht aus den BeteiligungenCourse of the Business and state of the company
Review of the stub period from March  20 to December 31, 2006
The stub period 2006 was characterized by the founding of AURELIUS AG on March 20, 2006, the
successful listing of the stock and the first purchases of investments.

Sales and results of operations
Around 60 % of the sales of AURELIUS are attributable to the ‘Services & Solutions’ division, of
which k€ 8,337 relates to DFA and k€ 4,155 to GHOTEL. With regard to the ‘Industrial Production’
division Scherpe contributed k€ 4,881 and Grillo k€ 4,159 to total sales of k€ 21,713. It should be
noted here that the sales and the results of the companies purchased during the year are included
in the consolidated financial statements only from the date of the initial consolidation and there-
fore only on a proportional basis. Annualizing these figures would give rise to group sales of k€

83,683.

Other operating income amounts to k€ 3,724 and includes the release of negative differences of
k€ 1,148.
The cost of materials relate primarily to DFA with k€ 3,116, Scherpe with k€ 2,594 and Grillo with
k€ 2,312.
The personnel expenses of the group are attributable to DFA with k€ 3,225, Scherpe with k€ 1,627
and Grillo with k€ 1,853 and consist for the most parts of wages and salaries.
The consolidated net income for the year after minority interests amounts to k€ 1,939. This corre-
sponds to earnings per share of €3.16. Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization
(EBITDA) total k€ 4,216.

Net assets and financial position
The commencement of operations has been clearly reflected in the balance sheet total which rose
to k€ 62,531 at the end of the stub period. It is consists primarily of long-term assets (k€ 37,155), this
largely being made up of the total tangible fixed assets of AURELIUS of k€ 30,818 and intangible
fixed assets of k€ 5,636. The intangible fixed assets relate mainly to customer list, brands and
licenses of the investment companies.

The current assets consist mainly of trade receivables of k€ 9,133, cash and cash equivalents (k€

8,250) and inventories (k€ 6,822).

Borrowings relate primarily to financial liabilities (k€ 20,282), trade payables (k€ 6,520), pension
obligations (k€ 8,144) and provisions (k€ 6,257).

Equity, with capital reserves of k€ 8,701, largely reflects the capital increase carried out in
November 2006. The equity ratio stands at 18.5 % (including minority interests), which is typical for
a German company.

General part 4-9
Management discussion and analysis 10-32
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Consolidated cash flow statement 40-41
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Risks and opportunities
Objectives and policies of risk management

Summary of the risk factors and opportunities
The company is exposed to a number of risks. The most significant risks and the related opportu-
nities are described below.

General economic risks and opportunities

Economic factors
The general economic situation and the economic development in the markets in which AURELIUS
operates effect the business development of AURELIUS. In times of worsening economic conditions
and in a recession there is a greater risk of companies going into crisis. A positive aspect of this is
that there are more companies available for sale. The choice of companies in special situations
should therefore be wider for AURELIUS under these economic circumstances. However, the
restructuring of the investment companies is then more difficult in a weak economic environment.
It is also harder to sell a restructured company since companies react in a more restrained manner
in purchasing considerations and it cannot therefore be ruled out that an investment company can
only be sold at a discount.

Portfolio and industry
In selecting its portfolio investments AURELIUS does not specialize in certain industries or regions.
In its choice of company the chances of a turnaround and the future prospects of a company form
the paramount selection criteria.
AURELIUS attempts to counteract the risks associated with economic fluctuation, individual com-
panies, industries and regions in the investment portfolio through diversification.
It cannot be ruled out that the economic development of a future investment is affected by a
downturn in the market of a specific industry which could then lead to the insolvency of the com-
pany, without the management of the investment company being able to prevent this.

This must be distinguished from the specific industry risk for investment companies such as AURE-
LIUS. It is conceivable that, for example, new competitors in the market could lead to an increase in
demand for companies in special situations and consequently a rise in acquisition prices.

Competition and access to attractive investment companies
An important factor for AURELIUS’s operations is a sufficient number of attractive investment
opportunities. It is vital for the company to get to know of acquisition opportunities. First and fore-
most the company makes use of existing connections to agents, groups and other potential sellers.
As a result of the greater financial strength of some of AURELIUS’s competitors, competition for an
investment can mean that AURELIUS must pay a higher price for the company or may not be in a
position to buy the company at all. If the supply of attractive investments or AURELIUS’s access to
such investment worsens, or does not develop as AURELIUS expects, or AURELIUS has to pay higher
prices as a result of the competition, this will affect general operations and the future growth of



AURELIUS, reduce profitability and consequently have a negative effect on the net assets, the
financial position and on the earnings of the company overall. AURELIUS’s transparent concept and
the experienced and effective team represent a competitive advantage which proved its worth in
the past year with AURELIUS being able to prevail in numerous cases.

Financial risks and opportunities

Interest rate changes 
AURELIUS intends to invest available financial assets in the capital markets in the ordinary course
of business. Fluctuations in interest rates can lead to a fall in the value of the financial assets of the
company which would then have a negative effect on the company. Furthermore, the company is
exposed to the risk that it may not be able to convert those financial assets consisting of minority
holdings into liquid assets should this become necessary, so that the liquidating of such financial
assets could lead to a loss.
On the other hand the level and movement of interest rates can also affect AURELIUS’s financing
costs. This depends on the extent to which general financing requirements have to be financed
externally, on the existing interest rates and the fixed terms of any loans. Rising interest rates also
affect the financing cost of the investment companies which can affect the restructuring, the dis-
tributions and also the selling opportunities adversely. The planned introduction of a central cash
management system is designed to counteract and minimize these risks.

Foreign currency and exchange rates
Foreign currency and exchange rate risk can arise if, for example, investment companies are
purchased from foreign shareholders and paid in foreign currency, if investment companies con-
duct foreign operations, or if investment companies hold foreign subsidiaries. The vast majority of
AURELIUS’s sales are currently attributable to the European monetary union (euro zone). The com-
pany is therefore relatively independent of movements in exchange rates.
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Bericht aus den BeteiligungenCompany-specific risks and opportunities

Risks and opportunities associated with the business model
AURELIUS’s activities include the acquisition, restructuring and sale of businesses. AURELIUS focus-
es on companies in special situations with strong earnings potential. In selecting its portfolio
investments AURELIUS does not specialize in certain industries. The success of the business model
depends rather more on the company’s ability to identify suitable companies, to purchase these at
reasonable prices and then to sell them after a successful turnaround.

Selection of investment companies
The acquisition of investment companies normally carries a not inconsiderable business risk. It can-
not be ruled out that risks have not been recognized or have been misinterpreted. In particular risks
consist of the misinterpretation of the future prospects of a business or its potential for restructur-
ing, or the fact that liabilities, obligations or other encumbrances of the investment company were
not known or identified at the time of the purchase, despite careful examination. A misinterpreta-
tion of the attainable market position, the earnings potential, the profitability, growth opportuni-
ties or other key factors has consequences for the profitability of the investment. The company’s
profitability could also suffer from impairment losses on purchased goodwill or other assets. On
the other hand it is just such businesses in special situations which possess often undiscovered and
unused earnings potential, which can be accessed by specific management decisions.

Growth management
A key factor for the future success of AURELIUS is the considerable experience of the board mem-
bers Dr. Markus and Purkert. The planned growth of AURELIUS is, however, also dependent on the
company having access to an adequate number of persons for acquisitions, restructuring and the
operative management of the investment companies. In particular the restructuring of businesses
in crisis places the highest demands on the manager or managers responsible. It is vital for the suc-
cess of the business model to have qualified internal or external personnel with industry practical
experience and a great deal of management skills. However, with its good reputation, experience
and coherent concept AURELIUS has the opportunity of accessing the best in the market.

Effective controlling of the investment companies and AURELIUS
A major step in restructuring an investment company is the implementation of an effective con-
trolling system which can provide the new management with the appropriate information to
improve the cost and earnings position. If the respective management does not succeed in
installing such a system promptly, the success of the restructuring can be endangered. The man-
agement of the investment companies provides the directors of AURELIUS early on with informa-
tion on adverse developments in the investment companies so that countermeasures can be taken
in time. However, there is still the risk that the company is only informed with delay or incomplete-
ly on the development and the occurrences at the investment company. It is then possible that
measures cannot be taken, or only taken with delay, which consequently affects the development
of the investment company adversely or even, under certain circumstances, puts the value of the
investment company at risk.
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Bericht aus den BeteiligungenImplementation / adjustment of organizational structures
Following the commencement of operations in the past year, the expansion of the company through
the acquisition of investment companies has now made the implementation and adjustment of
organizational, personnel-related and technical structures necessary. Measures have already been
taken to improve the organizational and informational structures in Accounting and Controlling and
therefore to address the requirements the development of the company has brought with it. As such,
the existing uniform reporting system and the successful introduction of an electronic consolidation
tool at parent company level meets the highest standards regarding the quality, reliability and time-
ly access of accounting-related data. The inclusion of all the subsidiaries in this system will increase
this standard further. The involvement of further qualified personnel has, and will address the needs
of business expansion.

Risk of failure of the restructuring
AURELIUS’s aim is to restructure an investment company as quickly as possible in order to keep the
operative losses after acquisition as low as possible, and then in the medium-term to receive income
in the form of dividends and to achieve a profit on the sale of the company. It is not impossible for the
restructuring attempts and the managers installed at the investment company to fail. There are
numerous reasons why an investment company does not become profitable. As a final consequence
this means the insolvency of the company. In this case AURELIUS would lose the funds it deployed to
purchase (including secondary purchase costs), to run and possibly to finance the investment compa-
ny. However, any such loss is usually cut by the restructuring contribution made by the seller, being
reflected in the difference between the book value and the purchase price of the investment.
Furthermore, as a matter of principle, AURELIUS does not set up any profit and loss transfer agree-
ments with the subsidiaries and does not provide any guarantees or similar security in their favor. For
these reasons the effects of failure of any restructuring on the respective subsidiary is limited.

Selling investment companies
The company can realize profits on the sale of an investment company to private, institutional or
industrial investors or through an IPO. However, AURELIUS can provide no guarantee as to whether
the sale can be made at a profit or at what yield. In particular both the economic climate and the con-
dition of the capital markets, but also unforeseen factors can have a significant effect on the sales
proceeds. In times of a poor economic and/or industry environment, or weak financial markets, a sale
may not be possible at all or only at a great discount. Even in the case of a positive development of
the investment company there is the risk that a reasonable price is unattainable due to the poor eco-
nomic, industry and/or financial market environment. By contrast a booming economy can favor the
earnings of the investment company and as such affect the future sales price.
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Reports on the investment companies

In the following pages we report on our investment companies in the order in which they were acquired.
As at December 31, 2006 the following five companies were part of the AURELIUS Group:

GHOTELGHOTELGHOTEL
hotel & living
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DFA – Transport und Logistik GmbH

Acquired: July 2006

Industry and activities
DFA (with sites in Ronneburg, Thuringia and Aue, Saxony) is a leading special
logistics company with a focus on special transports, in particular for radioactive
materials and a wide range of other types of hazardous waste.

Active in the restructuring of the formerly people-owned Wismut AG and for
major building companies, DFA has many years of experience providing construc-
tion logistics services. The focus lies on supplying and dismantling construction
sites in the fields of civil engineering, mining and demolition, in particular:

- Mixed cargoes and freight transport including dangerous goods 
- Transport of construction materials 
- Long and short-distance special and heavy transport for construction logistics,

concrete components and steel constructions 
- Construction machines and container transport
- High volume, heavy and long material transport
- Municipal services 
- Vehicle engineering (DaimlerChrysler and MAN) 

DFA has an exemplary status in the ongoing renovation of the uranium mines in
the new Länder (East German states). Among its customers are the public
authorities as well as major construction companies. With commissions in
Austria and Hungary the company has also succeeded in expanding internation-
ally.

Position of the company and restructuring and development measures undertaken
Following the takeover of DFA the main focus is on diversification and on further expansion of the
customer list.To secure customer orders in the short-term it was important that two master agree-
ments with a key customer continue to be serviced unchanged in 2007. Related to both of these
master agreements (dumper services and municipal services) is the continuation of the diesel price
automatic adjustment clause. In addition to this, contracts were won for the transport of mineral
soil and long-term master agreements for the delivery and transport of road construction materi-
al/gravel, new contracts for the expansion of Dresden airport and for the construction of a new
motorway in Austria.

Other measures include optimizing liquidity, cost-cutting and the introduction of more flexible
capacity adjustment systems.
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In the first half of 2007 vehicle capacity was successfully contracted out in full which secured uti-
lization for the whole year.

Outlook
The current focus is on the implementation of the existing contracts and attempts to increase
growth abroad. To this end a sales initiative is underway supported by the AURELIUS task force.

Capital expenditure in 2007 will concentrate on the replacement and expansion of the vehicle fleet
and the purchase of 53 dumper trucks and 1 wheel loader for construction sites and 7 trucks for
long-distance transport.

Richard Scherpe Group
The Richard Scherpe Group (‘Scherpe’) includes the following companies:

Richard Scherpe GmbH & Co. KG, Krefeld
Richard Scherpe GmbH & Co. KG, Düren
HWD Druck GmbH, Düren
Scherpe Verwaltung GmbH, Krefeld
Richard Scherpe Grafische Betriebe GmbH, Norderstedt
Digital Managing Systems GmbH, Norderstedt (33% holding)

Acquired: August 2006

Industry and activities
The long-established Scherpe, which has been in existence for over 70 years, specializes in printing
applications for the premium segment (e.g. printing the packaging for Mozart- truffles), with pro-
duction sites in Krefeld, Düren and Norderstedt. Scherpe offers a complete service, from planning
right through to realization and production of the printed article. Their service also includes the
electronic import of data and the logistics appropriate to the business process, right up to the
delivery of the product.

Key customers include amongst others C&A, Bayer, Lufthansa, Peek & Cloppenburg, Adler, Quelle
and Hugo Boss.

Position of the company and restructuring and development measures undertaken
Scherpe’s sales amounted to some € 14 million in 2006. Up to the time of the acquisition earnings
were positive but declining. Considerable investment has been made in sales and infrastructure.
Under a growth strategy sales is being refocused and geared towards the solution and service busi-
ness in order to position Scherpe in the market as a solution provider and comprehensive partner 
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for internal business forms of large companies. Scherpe has already been able to
win its first contracts in this connection and notably has been able to establish
itself successfully with hotels and hospitals. The expansion of the sales division
is still underway since experience and professionalism play a large roll in hiring
new staff. These approaches will continue to be refined and implemented rigor-
ously. Similar solution packages are currently under development and being test-
ed.

In order to benefit from synergies between the sites, areas of responsibility
which used to be located at each site have now been centralized. As a total the
number of employees has remained constant. Cost-savings in overheads have
been realized to a not inconsiderable degree.

Outlook
Stable and sound earnings in 2007 are particularly dependent on the continued
expansion of the sales force. Prices for raw materials are expected to rise by 5-7
% in the first six months of 2007. The challenge here will be to counter rising pur-
chase prices and to adjust the sales side.

GHOTEL Group
The GHOTEL Group includes the following companies:

GHOTEL GmbH (formerly: Deutsche Post Wohnen GmbH), Bonn
GHOTEL Hotel und Boardinghaus Deutschland GmbH, Bonn
GHOTEL Deutschland GmbH, Bonn
GHOTEL Germany GmbH, Bonn

Acquired: September 2006

Industry and activities
GHOTEL Group operates 17 hotels and apartment buildings in central locations in major German
cities such as Hamburg, Hanover, Düsseldorf, Frankfurt, Stuttgart and Munich, generating annual
sales of approximately € 15 million.

GHOTELGHOTELGHOTEL
hotel & living
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Bericht aus den BeteiligungenGHOTEL offers the following services:

GHOTEL
The modern business and leisure hotel – without too much fuss but with style and
atmosphere, to help you relax after a hard day’s work.

GHOTEL Conference Centers
Comfortable and relaxed accommodating and meeting in centrally located and well
connected buildings, for a fair price and with high quality service.

GHOTEL Living
Modern temporary living – without troublesome hunts for rooms or flats, and with-
out the stress of moving or having to pay a security deposit.

GHOTEL domiciles are located in Bonn, Düsseldorf, Essen – Velbert, Frankfurt (2),
Hamburg, Hanover, Kiel, Munich (6), Neu-Isenburg and Stuttgart (2) (as of December
31, 2006).

Position of the company and restructuring and development measures undertaken
Major restructuring has taken place since the company was acquired. This has focu-
sed in particular on cost-cutting potential. Several experienced hotel managers have
also been recruited. In order to gain new customers, emphasis has been placed on
establishing and increasing the awareness of the brand ‘GHOTEL’.

The renaming of ‘Deutsche Post Wohnen’ into ‘GHOTEL’ has been carried out conse-
quently in all areas. Emphasis has been placed on focusing the customer’s attention
on the brand name GHOTEL in order to increase brand awareness on a lasting basis
and to strengthen the market position. Staff leaving the company has been replaced by employ-
ees with good experience in the hotel business.

Marketing measures were extended to include the hotels and apartment buildings in all of the
major internet reservation systems. As a result, sales in the hotels rose by 33 % over the prior
period. This increase is well above the industry average.

As part of the cost-cutting measures it was decided to part with unprofitable apartment buil-
dings or to reduce the rent in the renewal of the rental contracts. This has already led to the sale
of some unprofitable sites. The largest risk continues to lie in to date not renegotiated rental
contracts. The company can only become profitable by continuing to focus on the measures
described.
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Outlook
2007 foresees in particular additional master agreements to secure customer loyalty on a lasting
basis and therefore to increase occupancy rates. Plans are also afoot to raise the quality stan-
dards to 4-star at various sites (e.g. Essen-Velbert) to attract premium clientele.

On the cost side the program of measures introduced in 2006 is to be brought to a close.

Grillo Peißenberg GmbH

Acquired: October 2006

Industry and activities
Grillo Peißenberg GmbH is a well-positioned company specializing in metal
working. The company's range of services encompasses milling, sheet metal
forming and component assembly, using state-of-the-art CNC machines (e.g.
milling or laser cutting). The activities here include metal cutting (CNC-milling,
thread cutting, chamfering, vibratory grinding, construction), non-cutting shap-
ing (punching, forming, laser cutting, grinding and brushing, construction), join-

ing engineering (welding, riveting and clinching, construction) and assembly.

Grillo Peißenberg GmbH has customers from the sectors automation technology, telecommunica-
tions/information technology, automotive and consumer goods such as Siemens, AGFA, Miele,
WEBASTO, Mercedes-Benz, MAN and Gardena.

Position of the company and restructuring and development measures undertaken
At the time of the takeover there were considerable deficits in key operational areas. This included
inadequate customer and receivables management, outdated cost controlling, in particular in job-
order costing and monitoring, an outdated EDP system and deficits in utilization and productivity.
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As a consequence, the following measures were introduced:

- In production and logistics significant reductions in processing times were achieved with the
introduction of flow production and the use of various production ratios 

- With regard to personnel, measures were introduced to reduce costs significantly and increase 
employee productivity

- Rising energy costs are to be counteracted by transferring or closing electroplating and inte
grating screen printing into the production house metal.The objective is to increase customer
orders considerably by hiring new sales staff and mobilizing the existing sales force.

Overall the progress of the restructuring measures lags behind the targets set.

Outlook
The expansion of sales with additional qualified sales representatives will be com-
plete by the second quarter 2007. A further reduction in personnel costs is planned, in
particular with regard to unqualified staff.

There continues to be tough price competition on key accounts which is not expected
to ease up in 2007. By contrast, better prices can be achieved with mid-market cus-
tomers and for small and time-critical series. The sales offensive commenced is aimed
at this area.
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KWE Group („KWE“)

The KWE Group includes the following companies:

KWE Stahl- und Industriebau GmbH & Co KG, Wesseling
KWE Stahl- und Industriebau Beteiligungs GmbH, Wesseling
KWE Ludwigshafen Stahl- und Industriebau GmbH, Ludwigshafen

Acquired: December 2006

Industry and activities
KWE is a specialist steel construction service provider working predominantly for
the chemicals and energy industries, but it also includes architecturally chal-
lenging projects in its range of services (such as for Phantasialand in Brühl).
These include KWE services (service and maintenance of the steel structures in
industrial plants), KWE steel (steel construction in the chemicals and oil indus-
tries), KWE stations (petrol station construction) and KWE constructive (turnkey

construction, from design to planning and structural dynamics through to construction handover).
KWE’s main customers include amongst others Shell, BASF, Degussa Bayer, Merck, ThyssenKrupp
and Sanofi Aventis.

Position of the company and restructuring and development measures undertaken
Restructuring needs were identified and implemented in particular with regard to an improvement
in the structure of working capital, renegotiations of the bank relationships with short-term and
medium-term financing, reorganization of accounting and internal controlling, various measures
to reduce costs, optimization of the personnel cost structure and the optimization and expansion
of sales activities.

Outlook
The financial year 2007 began on a positive note and the current restructuring measures are on tar-
get. Working capital is being optimized and short-term liquidity planning introduced.
Orders received by the project area steel construction in the first quarter 2007 were above average,
meaning that the sales targets for the year will very probably be achieved. The company is benefit-
ing from the continuing good economic development and the slow release of the investment back-
log of customers. An important task in 2007 will be to convert sales into profit and continuous
sales success.
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Bericht aus den BeteiligungenThe negotiations on the extension of the master agreements in the services division
in the first quarter were concluded successfully. The project to reorganize the accoun-
ting function has commenced and should successfully be completed in the third
quarter. Furthermore, comprehensive cost-cutting measures have been introduced.
However, the high level of labor costs per unit, resulting from the 35-hour week in
some areas of the business, represent a challenge. Intensive negotiations are under-
way in this respect. A sales offensive planned for the second and third quarters is desi-
gned to contribute to sustainable increases in sales and earnings.

Events after the balance sheet date
Acquisition of Sauer-Danfoss (Berching) GmbH
In March 2007 AURELIUS acquired all of the shares in Sauer Danfoss (Berching) GmbH. The seller is the
worldwide active Sauer-Danfoss group headquartered in Chicago, USA. The company, which will return
to its traditional name of Schabmüller GmbH, is a worldwide leading manufacturer of electric drives
solutions (electric motors, generators) and generated a turnover of € 35 million in the financial year
2006 with approximately 300 employees. In addition to highly-developed direct current drives for fork-
lifts, the product portfolio also contains special custom-tailored solutions and components, which for
example are used for ship propulsion. The focus of the seller, Sauer-Danfoss Group on other target mar-
kets lead to the decision to sell the profitable subsidiary.

Acquisition of Quelle S.A.S
At the beginning of April 2007 KarstadtQuelle AG and AURELIUS signed a contract on the purchase of
the French Quelle S.A.S. This was carried out after the hearing process with local work councils and trade-
unions, which is statutory in France, was successfully concluded and therewith the last formal demand
for a signing of the contract had been met. Representatives of the AURELIUS Task Force are already
deployed in the company and are supporting the reorientation of the company. The completion of the
sale is conditional on the approval of the French Central Bank since with the sale of Quelle S.A.S. an inter-
est in Compagnie De Gestion et des Prets SA (CDGP), a bank which is specialized in consumer credits, is
also being sold. This approval process may take several months.
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Outlook
Following its founding AURELIUS has already been successful in the past stub period in acquiring five
investment companies and as such in achieving annualized group sales of k€ 83,683. In 2007 two more
purchase contracts have been signed which will give rise to more than a quadrupling of sales. This kind
of strong growth can only be realized with adequate funds. Consequently a capital increase was already
carried out in November 2006. It is planned to secure a further adequate level of funds in 2007 to finan-
ce additional investment acquisitions.

Necessary restructuring measures have been introduced and implemented at the investment compa-
nies acquired to date. Therefore management expects growth in sales and profitability in 2007. Outlooks
for the individual companies are provided in the report on the investment companies.
The positive effect of the restructuring measures will also be reflected in the group results. The Board of
Directors anticipates the possibility of a first dividend after the end of the current year 2007. AURELIUS
also expects further growth in 2008 and subsequent years from the existing and future investment
companies.

Other disclosures
Remuneration system

Details of the remuneration system are disclosed under number 5.7 of the notes to the financial state-
ments.

Munich, May 15, 2007

Dr. Dirk Markus Gert Purkert
Chairman Director
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Statement on the German
Corporate Governance Code
The principles of good transparent corporate governance are an integral part of the management of the
business of AURELIUS AG. We follow them continuously, independent of any external industry and mar-
ket influences. We understand good corporate governance to mean the responsible management and
control of the business, directed towards increasing value. It is our aim to enhance the trust put in our
business by our partners by providing open, timely and regular information.

AURELIUS AG complies with the new recommendations and proposals of the code
In accordance with the recommendations of the ‘Deutsche Corporate Governance Kodex’ (‘DCGK’) we
report in this section on corporate governance in our company. Further information is also provided in
the notes to the financial statements. Both sets of information are components of the report on corpo-
rate governance.
The Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board have taken the decision to comply with the new
recommendations and proposals. However, nine recommendations have not yet been complied with or
only to a limited extent. AURELIUS AG is aiming at reducing the number of deviations and will therefo-
re continue to monitor the development of DCGK; the compliance statement will be brought up to date
as necessary.

Comprehensive information is provided to AURELIUS’s shareholders on a timely basis
AURELIUS attaches great importance to the provision of the same information simultaneously to all tar-
get groups. Accordingly, all material reports, notifications and presentations are published on the inter-
net at the same time as the respective occurrence. Any interested party can follow our annual general
meeting live on the internet.
The Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board worked confidingly with each other in close co-opera-
tion in the stub period. Conflicts of interest between the members of the Board of Directors and the
Supervisory Board requiring immediate notification to the Supervisory Board did not occur.

The remuneration of management is linked to the performance of the company
The directors’ remuneration is orientated towards performance and the success of the business. The two
components of the remuneration package are fixed salaries and participation in the share price in the
form of company shares.
Details of the remuneration system and the directors’ remuneration are provided in the notes to the
financial statements. This forms part of the report on corporate governance.
The remuneration of the Supervisory Board is based on the amount of time the members of the com-
mittee need to carry out their duties. It is currently in the form of fixed pay – contrary to the recommen-
dation of the Code. Details of the remuneration of the Supervisory Board are also provided in the notes
to the financial statements.

Corporate governance
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Bericht aus den BeteiligungenThe Code provides a general standard for German stock corporations. It only takes into account the
requirements of specific industries and businesses to a limited extent. The investment business
also has such specific characteristics. AURELIUS must take account of the sellers and the busines-
ses in which it is investing. Therefore it is only possible to publish details of equity, earnings and
purchase prices if the agreed non-disclosure agreements are not breached.

Compliance statement in accordance with § 161 German Companies Act
(Aktiengesetz)

The Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board declare that AURELIUS AG complies with, and will
continue to comply with the ‘German Corporate Governance Code’ (‘DCGK’) in the version dated June
12, 2006, with the exception of the following:

• There is no deductible for members of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board in the
D&O insurance, neither was any foreseen (see 3.8 DCGK). The D&O insurance only covers negligent
breach of duties; it covers both board members and staff alike. Since a distinction between board
members and staff is not appropriate in this case, and internationally a deductible is not usual, such
a clause was not agreed. AURELIUS has no reason to believe that its board members and staff do not
carry out their duties with utmost care. A deductible would therefore not have any additional effect.

• The remuneration of the directors currently does not include a variable component (see 4.2.3
DCGK). Therefore no details are provided on the form and amount in the notes to the financial sta-
tements. However, the directors hold over 40 % of the company’s shares and therefore hold a high
stake in the success of the business. This is underscored by the fact that the fixed salaries are relati-
vely low at € 108,000 p.a. respectively.

• Currently there is no long-term successor plan for the members of the board of directors (see
5.1.2 DCGK). This is not yet considered necessary in the light of the recent founding of the company
and the young age of the directors.

• In line with its size (currently three members) no committees have as yet been set up within the
Supervisory Board (see 5.3.1 DCGK). As such no audit committee exists (see 5.3.2. DCGK). The recom-
mendations will be followed should conditions change.

• It has proved opportune to elect all the members of the Supervisory Board on the same date.
This provides for continuity in the work of the Supervisory Board.Therefore AURELIUS AG has not fol-
lowed the proposal to elect the members on different dates (see 5.4.6 DCGK). We continue to be of
the opinion that with the short period of office of the members of the Supervisory Board the requi-
rement of DCGK is adequately taken into account following the appropriate consideration of chan-
ge requirements.
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Bericht aus den Beteiligungen• Contrary to the recommendation of the Code, the remuneration of the Supervisory Board mem-
bers does not include a variable component (see 5.4.7, sentence 2 DCGK). Since the requirements of
the Supervisory Board remain at constantly high levels and are independent of the results, the remu-
neration policy does not provide for a performance related component.

• The recommendation that details of equity and results of the stub period of any third parties in
which AURELIUS holds a not insignificant stake should be disclosed (see 7.1.4 DCGK) is only complied
with to a limited extent. It is often the case that AURELIUS is bound in the agreements with the con-
tracting parties by a non-disclosure agreement. In addition, the disclosure of such information can,
in certain cases, adversely affect the investments of AURELIUS.

Munich, April 2007

The Board of Directors of AURELIUS AG
The Supervisory Board of AURELIUS AG
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of AURELIUS AG, Munich for the stub period
from March 20 to December 31, 2006

Consolidated income statement

(k€)
Notes        3/20 - 12/31/2006  

1. Sales 3.1 21.713

2. Change in finished goods and work in progress -89

3. Other operating income 3.2 3.724

4. Cost of materials 3.3 -8.774

5. Personnel expenses 3.4 -7.318

6. Other operating expenses 3.5 -5.041

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) 4.216

7. Depreciation on intangible fixed assets and tangible assets        4.1, 4.2, 4.3 -1.579

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) 2.638

8. Other interest and similar income 3.6 66

9. Interest and similar expense 3.6 -448

10. Results from ordinary activities 2.256

11. Taxes on income 3.7 -56

12. Consolidated profit for the period before minority interests 2.200

13. Consolidated profit attributable to minority interests 3.8 -261

14. Consolidated profit for the period 1.939

15. Consolidated retained profits brought forward 0

16. Consolidated retained profits 1.939

Earning per share 3.9

- basic in € 3,16

- diluted in € 3,16
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Bericht aus den Beteiligungen

3/20/2006

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

500

500

500

k€k€

of AURELIUS AG, Munich as of December 31, 2006
Assets

Consolidated balance sheet

Notes 12/31/2006   

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 4.1 5,636

Property, plant and equipment 4.2 30,818

Financial assets 4.3 11

Deferred tax assets 4.15 690

Total non-current assets 37,155

Current assets

Inventories 4.4 6,822

Receivables from long-term contracts 4.5 1,569

Trade receivables 4.6 7,564

Other current assets 4.7 1,171

Cash and cash equivalents 4.8 8,250

Total current assets 25,376

Total assets 62,531
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Bericht aus den Beteiligungen

(k€)(k€)
Notes 12/31/2006

Equity

Subscribed capital 4.9 613

Capital reserves 4.9 8,701

Consolidated net retained profits 1,939

Consolidated equity before minority interests 11,253

Minority interests 4.9 305

Total equity 11,558

Non-current liabilities

Pension obligations 4.10 8,144

Provisions 4.11 2,049

Non-current financial liabilities 4.12/4.14 15,018

Non-current other liabilities 4.13 1,964

Deferred tax liabilities 4.15 2,376

Total non-current liabilities 29,551

Current liabilities

Provisions 4.11 4,208

Current financial liabilities 4.16/4.14 5,264

Trade payables 4.17 6,520

Other current liabilities 4.18 5,430

Total current liabilities 21,422

Total equity and liabilities 62,531

3/20/2006

500

0

0

500

0

500

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

500

of AURELIUS AG; Munich as of December 31, 2006
Equity and liabilities

Consolidated balance sheet
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3/20 -12/31/2006

Profit for the period before tax (EBT) 2,256

Income from reversal of negative consolidation differences -1,148

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment, and on intangible assets 1,579

Increase in pension provisions 12

Gain (-)/loss (+) on the disposal of shares in businesses 62

Gain on the disposal of property, plant and equipment -30

Net interest income 382

Interest paid out -382

Gross cash flow 2,730

of AURELIUS AG, Munich for the stub period
from March 20 to December 31, 2006

Consolidated cash flow statement

(k€)
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Consolidated cash flow statement (continued)

3/20 -12/31/2006

Change in working capital

Increase in inventories -333

Decrease in trade receivables and other assets 1,453

Increase in trade payables, other liabilities and other provisions 149

Decrease in other balance sheet items -120

Net cash inflow from operating activities (net cash flow) 3,878

Cash paid for the acquisition of businesses -6,346

Cash acquired on the acquisition of businesses 3,999

Proceeds from the disposal of fixed assets 74

Cash paid for investments in fixed assets -1,054

Net cash used in from investing activities -3,327

Cash repayments of current financial liabilities -1,960

Cash receipts from non-current financial liabilities 345

Cash receipts from the issuance of shares 8,814

Net cash inflow from financing activities 7,199

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 500

Change in cash and cash equivalents 7,750

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 8,250

(k€)
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(k€)
March 20, 2006 500 0 0 0 500

Capital increase 113 8.701 8.814

Consolidated profit 2006 1.939 261 2.200

23 23

Issuance of minority interests 21 21

December 31, 2006 613 8.701 1.939 305 11.558

Consolidated 
Subscribed Capital profit MInory Consolidated

capital reserves for the period interests equity

Minority interest from initial 
consolidation

of AURELIUS AG, Munich for the stub period
from March 20 to December 31, 2006

Statement of changes in equity
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Abbreviations

AktG Aktiengesetz (German Companies Act)

AURELIUS AURELIUS AG and its subsidiaries

AURELIUS AG AURELIUS AG; Munich

CGU Cash Generating Unit (zahlungsmittelgenerierende Einheit) 

DCKG Deutscher Corporate Governance Kodex 
(German Corporate Governance Code dated June 12, 2006)

DFA DFA Transport und Logistik GmbH, Ronneburg

EBITDA Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization

EU European Union 

GHOTEL GHOTEL GmbH, Bonn and its subsidiaries

Grillo Grillo Peißenberg GmbH, Peißenberg

HGB Handelsgesetzbuch (German Commercial Code) 

IASB International Accounting Standards Board

IFRIC International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee

IFRS / IAS International Financial Reporting Standards /
International Accounting Standards 

KWE KWE Stahl- und Industriebau GmbH & Co. KG,
Wesseling and its subsidiaries

PoC-Methode Percentage of completion method

Scherpe Richard Scherpe GmbH & Co. KG, Krefeld
and its subsidiaries

SIC SIC Standing Interpretations Committee

WpHG Wertpapierhandelsgesetz (German Securities Trading Act)
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1. Corporate information

AURELIUS AG, Munich, Germany (‘AURELIUS AG’) was founded on March 20, 2006, its registered
office is at Bavariaring 11 in 80336 Munich and it is registered in the commercial register of the local
court of Munich (HRB 161677). The shares of the company have been listed in the Open Market tier
of the Frankfurt stock exchange since June 26, 2006.

The activities of AURELIUS AG and its subsidiaries (‘AURELIUS’ or ‘Group’) include the acquisition
and restructuring of companies in special situations, i.e. with unresolved succession problems,
modernization, conglomerate spin-offs or in state of economic crisis. AURELIUS acquires business-
es in order to realize profit potential following operational improvements.

1.1 Basis of accounting
With the adoption of the directive of the European parliament and the council of ministers of the
European Union on June 6, 2002 on the application of international financial reporting standards
all capital market orientated businesses are required to prepare their consolidated financial state-
ments in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) for financial years
commencing after December 31, 2004. The shares of AURELIUS AG are traded on the Open Market
tier of the Frankfurt stock exchange which is not an ‘organized market’ in the sense of the German
Securities Trading Act (‘WpHG’), and does therefore not qualify as capital market orientated in the
sense of the provisions. Therefore these IFRS consolidated financial statements have been pre-
pared on a voluntary basis in accordance with § 315 (3) HGB.

1.2 Statement on compliance with IFRS
The consolidated financial statements of AURELIUS AG have been prepared in accordance with the
IFRS, published by the International Accounting Standards Board (‘IASB’), London, and adopted by
the European Union (‘EU’), as they are applicable to the group, and have been supplemented by a
group management discussion and analysis as well as other mandatory disclosures as required by
§ 315a (1) HGB. In addition to this, IFRS 8 (‘Operating Segments’), which had not been adopted by
the EU as of December 31, 2006, has also been complied with prematurely. The term IFRS also com-
prises all approved International Accounting Standards (‘IAS’) and interpretations of the
International Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee (‘IFRIC’) (formerly Standing
Interpretations Committee (‘SIC’).

1.3 Currency
The consolidated financial statements are presented in euro (‘€’). Unless otherwise stated all fig-
ures are stated in thousand euro (‘k€’).

1.4 Presentation
The consolidated income statement has been prepared  applying the total cost method of account-
ing. The ‘Income from reversal of negative consolidation differences’ is disclosed under other oper-
ating income in accordance with the IFRS regulations and as such is included in the ‘Earnings
before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization (‘EBITDA’)’.
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Bericht aus den BeteiligungenThe classification of the consolidated balance sheet discloses current and non-current items.
Current assets and liabilities are those which are due within one year.

In order to improve the clarity of the presentation, items in the balance sheet and income state-
ment have been netted where meaningful and possible. Details of these items are disclosed in the
notes to the financial statements.

Due to the fact the AURELIUS AG was founded on March 20, 2006 (entered in the commercial reg-
ister on March 31, 2006), the financial year 2006 is a stub period from March 20 to December 31,
2006. The comparative figures in the balance sheet are those of the opening balance sheet; no
comparative figures are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

The financial statements of all entities consolidated in full  that are either required by national law
to undergo a mandatory audit or were audited voluntarily have been audited or reviewed by inde-
pendent auditors . The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going-concern
basis.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the use of
estimates. In addition group accounting policies require management to make judgments. Details
of areas in which there is significant range in these assessments, or which are highly complex, or
areas in which assumptions and estimates play a significant role in the consolidated financial
statements are provided in the following.

1.5 Consolidated entities and basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements of AURELIUS incorporate the financial statements of AURE-
LIUS AG and its subsidiaries at December 31 of each financial year. The financial statements of the
subsidiaries are prepared using uniform accounting policies, as they are applied by the parent com-
pany. Subsidiaries are all the entities (including special purpose entities) in which the group has
control over its financial and operating policies. This can usually be assumed if an interest of more
than 50 % is held. In the assessment as to whether there is control, potential voting rights, which
currently cannot be exercised or converted, are taken into account. As a rule, subsidiaries are includ-
ed in the consolidated financial statements (fully consolidated) from the point in time at which
control passes to the group. They are de-consolidated when control ends.

The capital consolidation of the subsidiaries is carried out in accordance with the acquisition
method in accordance with IFRS 3 (‘Business Combinations’). In all business combinations the
acquirer values the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at fair value at the acquisition date.
Then the shares are matched against the newly valued equity of the consolidated subsidiary at the
acquisition date. The acquisition costs equal the sum of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of
the purchased assets, liabilities incurred or assumed and 
equity instruments issued by the acquirer plus any costs directly attributable to the combination.
Under a business combination the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are meas-
ured at their fair values at the acquisition date for the initial consolidation, irrespective of the
extent of any minority interest. The excess of the acquisition costs over the group’s share of the fair 
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Bericht aus den Beteiligungenvalue of the net assets is recognized as goodwill. If the acquisition costs are less that the net fair
value of the acquired net assets, the difference is recognized in the income statement immediate-
ly, after a reassessment has been carried out. The interest of minority shareholders is stated at the
minority’s proportion of the fair value of the assets and liabilities recognized.

The results of the subsidiaries acquired or sold during the year are included in the consolidated
income statement from or to the date control is obtained or ends. Intra-group transactions, bal-
ances and unrealized gains arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated. Unrealized losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction is an indication of impairment in value of the trans-
ferred asset.

Portions of consolidated equity and consolidated result relating to minorities are disclosed sepa-
rately from the parent company’s portion.

In the stub period no company was sold or de-consolidated. No companies are undergoing liquida-
tion at the year-end.

Associated companies are defined as ones in which AURELIUS has the power to exercise significant
influence but has no control. According to IFRS 28, significant influence can be assumed when 20
% or more of the voting rights are held. The group’s investments in associates are accounted for
using the equity method. Thereby the differences arising on the initial consolidation are account-
ed for as in full consolidation and are initially valued at acquisition cost. The group’s share in the
associated undertakings includes the goodwill at the time of the acquisition less accumulated
impairments in value. AURELIUS’s share of the profits and losses of associated undertakings are
shown in the net result of financing activities of the consolidated income statement from the
acquisition date, its share in the changes in reserves is disclosed in the consolidated reserves. The
accumulated changes after acquisition are netted off against the book value of the associate. The
group’s share of unrealized gains and losses arising between group companies and associated
undertakings are eliminated. In the case of unrealized losses the assets transferred are reviewed
for indications of impairment in value. The accounting policies of associated undertakings are
adjusted to bring them into line with those used by AURELIUS in the interests of uniform group
policies.

The year-end of the undertakings included in the consolidated financial statements corresponds
to that of the parent company.

A list of the companies included in the consolidated financial statements or associated entities
respectively, is provided under number 5.8 of the notes.

1.6 Application of new accounting standards
AURELIUS applies all of the IFRS, issued by the IASB in London, as adopted by the European Union
(EU) which were in force on December 31, 2006 and which are applicable to the company.
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Bericht aus den BeteiligungenThe following IFRS, issued and approved but not effective on December 31, 2006, have been applied
by the group:

On November 3, 2006 the IASB issued IFRS 8 (‘Operating Segments’). This standard includes new
reporting requirements on segmental reporting in which the segments are determined using
information designed for internal reporting and management purposes (‘management approach’).
It replaces IAS 14 (‘Segment Reporting’). IFRS 8 comes into effect for financial years beginning on or
after January 1, 2009. Earlier application is encouraged by the IASB. The standard has not yet been
adopted by the EU. The consolidated financial statements of AURELIUS AG already comply with the
new IFRS 8 while still taking the provisions of IAS 14 into account.

The following IFRS were approved during the course of the financial year but have not been applied
by AURELIUS in the consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2006 since they were not
mandatory (and were not applied early) or had not yet been adopted by the EU.

In December 2004 the IASB issued IFRS 7 (‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’). This standard intro-
duces basic changes to the disclosure requirements for financial instruments and brings together
all the financial instruments disclosures in a new standard. IFRS 7 requires information on the sig-
nificance of financial instruments for an entity’s net assets position, financial position and per-
formance and contains new requirements with regard to reporting of risks arising from financial
instruments. The first application of IFRS 7 is concurrent with amendments to IAS 1 (‘Presentation
of Financial Statements’). Qualitative disclosures must be made on the objectives, policies and
processes for managing capital.
In addition, disclosures must be made on the minimum capital requirements of third parties
including any breaches of contract and the consequences. IFRS 7 applies to entities from all indus-
tries, effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2007; earlier application is not
expected. It is not likely that IFRS 7 will lead to any additional significant disclosures.

In August 2005 the IASB issued an amendment to IAS 1 (‘Presentation of Financial Statements –
Capital Disclosures’). The amendments require entities to make disclosures on its objectives, poli-
cies and processes for managing capital. It is effective for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2007; earlier application is not expected.

In January 2006 the IFRIC issued the interpretation IFRIC 8 (‘Scope of IFRS 2’). The interpretation
clarifies that IFRS 2 Share-based Payment applies to arrangements where an entity makes share-
based payments for apparently nil or inadequate consideration. If the identifiable consideration
given appears to be less than the fair value of the equity instruments granted, this situation typi-
cally indicates, according to IFRIC 8, that other consideration has been or will be received. IFRS 2
therefore applies. IFRIC 8 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after May 1, 2006; earlier
application is not expected. The company does not expect the application of this interpretation to
have a significant effect on its net assets, financial position or performance.

In March 2006 the IFRIC issued the interpretation IFRIC 9 (‘Reassessment of Embedded
Derivatives’). IFRIC 9 clarifies that an embedded derivative is required to be accounted for separate-
ly only when the entity first becomes a party to the contract falling under IAS 39. Subsequent



Notes to the consolidated financial statementsTranslation of the German Report

51

Bericht aus den Beteiligungenreassessment is prohibited unless there is a change in the terms of the contract that significantly
modifies the cash flows that otherwise would be required under the contract. IFRIC 9 is effective
for annual periods beginning on or after June 1, 2006. The company does not expect the applica-
tion of this interpretation to have a significant effect on its net assets, financial position or per-
formance.

In July 2006 the IFRIC issued the interpretation IFRIC 10 (‘Interim Financial Reporting and
Impairment’). The interpretation clarifies that in future interim or consolidated financial state-
ments an entity shall not reverse an impairment loss recognized in a previous interim period for
which, according to IAS 36 and IAS 39, a reversal is not permitted. IFRIC 10 is effective for annual
periods beginning on or after November 1, 2006; earlier application is not expected. The company
does not expect the application of this interpretation to have a significant effect on its net assets,
financial position or performance.

On November 2, 2006 the IFRIC issued the interpretation IFRIC 11 (‘Group and Treasury Share
Transactions’) in accordance with IFRS 2. IFRIC 11 provides guidance on applying IFRS 2 in three cir-
cumstances:
- Share-based payment involving an entity's own equity instruments in which the entity choos

es or is required to buy its own equity instruments (treasury shares) to settle the share-based 
payment obligation – is this an equity-based or cash-based transaction

- A parent grants rights to its equity instruments to employees of its subsidiary – how should 
this be accounted for in the individual entities' financial statements

- A subsidiary grants rights to equity instruments of its parent to its employees – how should 
this be accounted for in the individual entities' financial statements

IFRIC 11 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after March 1, 2007. Earlier application is per-
mitted. The company does not expect the application of this interpretation to have a significant
effect on its net assets, financial position or performance.

On November 30, 2006 the IFRIC issued the interpretation IFRIC 12 (“Service Concession
Arrangements’). The interpretation contains a definition of service concession arrangements. IFRIC
12 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2008. Earlier application is permit-
ted. The company does not expect the application of this interpretation to have a significant effect
on its net assets, financial position or performance.
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Bericht aus den Beteiligungen2. Accounting policies
The financial statements of the entities included in the consolidated financial statements have
been prepared using uniform accounting policies. The significant accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements are described below.

2.1 Recognition of revenue and expenditure
Sales revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or to be received and repre-
sents the amounts receivable for goods and services provided in the normal course of business, net
of discounts, VAT and other sales-related taxes. Sales of goods are recognized when delivered and
title and risk has passed to the purchaser. Sales of services are recognized according to the stage of
completion in the ratio of services rendered to total service to be rendered in the financial year in
which the services are rendered.

Details of revenue recognition on construction contracts are provided under Inventories.

Interest income and expense are accrued and recognized by reference to the principle of the loan
outstanding and the prevailing interest rate.

The prevailing interest rate is the interest rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount.

Dividend income from investments is recognized when the shareholder’s right to receive the
income has been established.

On finance leases the payments received are apportioned between interest and principle in accor-
dance with mathematical principles.

Expenditure which cannot be capitalized is accounted for through profit and loss at the time it is
incurred.

2.2 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognized through profit and loss in the period in which they are incurred.

2.3 Taxes on income
The taxes on income represent the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Deferred tax liabilities on temporary differences arising in relation to the investment in sub-
sidiaries and associated undertakings are recognized unless the timing of the reversal of the tem-
porary differences can be controlled by the group and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is the expected tax to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying
amounts of the assets and liabilities in the IFRS financial statements and the corresponding tax 
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bases, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are rec-
ognized for all taxable temporary differences, and deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are off-
set when they are levied by the same taxation authority and the periods of payment are congru-
ent.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced,
and allowance made against these as necessary. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply when the liability settled or the asset is realized. Deferred tax is generally
charged or credited to the income statement, except for such positions which are charged or cred-
ited directly to equity.

2.4 Intangible assets
Customer list
On the acquisition of investment companies the group regularly purchases for consideration the
customer potential of the business taken over. This customer list, recognized at fair value, is capital-
ized as an intangible asset in accordance with IAS 38 and amortized over its estimated useful life.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the
group’s interest in the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities of a subsidiary or jointly con-
trolled entities, at the date of acquisition. In accordance with IFRS 3 goodwill with an indefinite use-
ful life is not amortized. Instead it is reviewed for impairment on an annual basis and additionally in
cases of such indication in accordance with IAS 36 and if necessary written down to its recoverable
amount (‘impairment only approach’). For the purpose of testing recoverability, the goodwill is allo-
cated to cash generating units (CGU). Any impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit and
loss. Impairment losses are not reversed at later dates. On disposal of a subsidiary or jointly con-
trolled entity the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of profit or loss.

Other intangible assets
Purchased patents, licenses and brands and other intangible assets are capitalized at historical
acquisition or production cost. They have limited useful lives and are stated at historical acquisition
or production cost less accumulated amortization.

Amortization of intangible assets
The expected useful life of the customer list is based primarily on the extrapolated average termi-
nation ratio and on the average contractual period of the individual user contracts, on which signif-
icant margins are realized.

Intangible assets whose useful life can be determined are amortized on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful life of the asset. The amortization commences when the intangible asset becomes
available for use. The amortization charge in recognized in the income statement and is disclosed
under the nature of expenditure appropriate to the intangible asset. The amortization is calculated
on a straight-line basis over an estimated useful life. The useful lives are estimated to be as follows:
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Bericht aus den Beteiligungen- Customer list 5-10 years
- Software and licenses 1-10 years
- Patents, samples, trademarks, publishing rights, copyrights,

performance rights 3-5 years
- Brands, company logos, ERP software and internet domain names 5-10 years
- Copyright software 3-5 years

If there are indications of impairment the intangible assets are subject to an impairment test and
written down to their recoverable amount as necessary.

2.5 Property, plant and equipment
All property, plant and equipment are recognized at historical acquisition cost or production cost
less depreciation. Acquisition cost and production cost include direct acquisition costs. Subsequent
acquisition or productions costs are only included in the acquisition or production costs if it is prob-
able that this expenditure will enable the asset to generate future economic benefits and the
expenditure can be measured reliably. All other repair and maintenance costs are charge to profit
and loss in the year in which they are incurred.

Land is not depreciated. All other assets are depreciated according to their respective economic loss
in value on a straight-line or reducing-balance basis; the acquisition costs are depreciated over the
following estimated useful lives of the assets:

- Factory buildings 20-50 years
- Administration buildings 25-50 years
- Other buildings 10 years
- Operating facilities 3-10 years
- Plant and machines 2-15 years
- Factory fixtures and fittings 4-10 years
- Office fixtures and fittings 3-10 years

The carrying amount and the useful lives are reviewed at the end of each financial year and adjust-
ed as necessary. If the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its estimated recoverable amount, the
asset it written down to the latter. Gains or losses on disposal are determined as the difference
between sales proceeds and carrying amount, and are recognized in profit and loss.

2.6 Non-current available-for-sale assets 
Non-current assets (and groups of assets) which are classified as available-for-sale are recorded at
the lower of amortized acquisition costs and fair value less costs to sell. Non-current assets and
groups of assets are classified as available-for-sale if their carrying amount can be released more
favorably than with the assets in use. This condition is considered to be fulfilled if the sale is high-
ly probable and the asset (or the available-for-sale group of assets) is available for immediate sale
in its current condition. As at the balance sheet date AURELIUS does not have any non-current
available-for-sale assets.
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Bericht aus den Beteiligungen2.7 Impairment of non-financial assets
Assets with indefinite useful lives are not subject to depreciation; they are reviewed annually for
impairment. Assets which are not subject to depreciation are reviewed for impairment when events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying values may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognized, being the excess of the carrying amount over the recoverable amount. The recover-
able amount is the higher of the fair value less costs to sell or value-in-use. For the impairment test
assets are combined into the lowest group of identifiable assets that generate independent cash
flows (CGU).Where an impairment subsequently is reversed, the carrying amount of the assets (CGU)
are increased to the revised estimate of their recoverable amounts, limited to the carrying amount
which would have arisen if there had been no impairment loss in prior years. A reversal of the impair-
ment loss is recognized immediately in profit and loss. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed.

In the reporting period there were no intangible assets with indefinite lives, except for the goodwill
disclosed.

2.8 Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease involve the substantial trans-
fer of all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.

Fixed assets, which are rented or leased and where economic ownership has passed to the respective
group company (‘finance lease’) are capitalized at the present value of the lease payments or the lower
fair value in accordance with IAS 17 and depreciated over their useful lives. If, at the commencement of
the lease term, there is no reasonable certainty that the lessee will obtain ownership, the asset should
be depreciated over the shorter of the lease term or the life of the asset;

The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation
under other borrowings. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and the reduction
of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the lia-
bility.

Lease payments under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis
over the term of the relevant lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time
pattern of the user's benefit.

Where AURELIUS is the lessor a leasing receivable due from the lessee is recorded in the balance sheet
in place of fixed assets in the case of a finance lease. At the time of the commencement the leasing
receivable is equal to the net investment in the lease.The income from the finance lease is recognized
based on a pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on the lessor's net investment out-
standing in respect of the finance lease. Lease income from operating leases is recognized over the
lease term on a straight-line basis. AURELIUS did not act as a lessor in the reporting period.

General part 4-9
Management discussion and analysis 10-32
Corporate governance 33-35
Consolidated income statement 37
Consolidated balance sheet 38-39
Consolidated cash flow statement 40-41
Consolidated statement of changes in equity 42
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 43-97
Imprint 98



AURELIUS Annual Report 2006Translation of the German Report

56

Bericht aus den Beteiligungen2.9 Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of acquisition or production cost, and net realizable value.
Acquisition or production cost comprises direct material costs and, where applicable, direct labor
costs and those overheads that that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their pres-
ent location and condition. Acquisition or production costs are calculated in accordance with the
weighted average method. Net realizable value represents the estimated selling price less all esti-
mated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution. Where
necessary, inventory provisions are accounted for to take account for excess stock and obsoles-
cence.

2.10 Construction contracts
If the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, revenue and costs are recog-
nized in proportion to the stage of completion of contract activity at the balance sheet date. In gen-
eral this is determined as the proportion that contract costs incurred for work performed to date
bear to the estimated total contract costs, unless this leads to a misrepresentation of the progress
of the work performed to date. The group discloses an asset for all construction contracts in
progress with a gross amount due from customers 
for which the sum of the progress billings exceeds the costs incurred plus recognized profits. The
group recognizes a liability for all construction contracts with the gross amount due to customers
for which the sum of the progress billings exceeds the costs incurred plus recognized profits. When
the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably the revenue is recognized only
to the extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be recovered. Contract costs are rec-
ognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. If it is probable that total contract
costs will exceed contract revenue, the expected loss is recognized as an expense immediately.

2.11 Trade receivables
Trade receivables are initially recorded at fair value and subsequently at amortized cost applying the
effective interest method and impairment provisions for irrecoverable amounts. A provision for
irrecoverable amounts of trade receivables is established where there is objective evidence that the
group will not be able to collect all amounts due. The level of the provision is measured as the differ-
ence between the carrying value of the receivable and the net present value of the estimated future
cash flows from this receivable, discounted at the effective rate of interest. The impairment in value is
recognized in profit and loss. A reversal of the impairment is recognized if the reasons for the impair-
ment in prior periods no longer exist.

2.12 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, sight deposits, other short-term highly liquid finan-
cial assets with a maturity upon acquisition of three months or less, and overdrafts. In the balance
sheet outstanding overdrafts are disclosed as liabilities to banks under current financial liabilities.

2.13 Financial assets
Financial assets are classifies as follows: financial assets at fair value through profit and loss, loans and
receivables, financial assets held to maturity and financial assets available for sale. The classification
depends on the purpose for which the assets were acquired. Management determines the classifica
tion of the financial asset on initial recognition and reviews the classification each year-end.
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Bericht aus den Beteiligungen(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss

The category has two sub-categories: financial assets classified on initial recognition as held for trad-
ing and those designated on initial recognition as ones to be measured at fair value through profit
and loss. A financial asset is allocated to this category if the asset was acquired for the purpose of sell-
ing in the short-term, or the financial asset was designated as such by management. Derivatives also
fall into this category. Assets in this category are disclosed under current assets if they are either held
for trading or will probably be realized within 12 months of the balance sheet date.

(b) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market.They arise when the group provides a creditor directly with money,
goods or services, without the intention of trading these receivables. They count as current assets if
they are due in not more than 12 months after the balance sheet date. The latter are disclosed under
non-current assets. Loans and receivables are included in the balance sheet under trade receivables
and other receivables.

(c) Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable pay-
ments and fixed terms that group’s management intends and is able to hold to maturity.

Loans are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. Initially, they are measured at fair value and subsequently at amortized cost using 
the effective interest method and subject to impairment provisions. If they are due in more than 12
months they are classified as non-current assets. They count as current assets if they are due in not
more than 12 months after the balance sheet date.

(d) Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are either any non-derivative financial assets designated as avail-
able for sale or such which were not allocated to any of the other categories. They are classified as
non-current if management does not intend to sell them within 12 months of the balance sheet date.

All purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trading date, the day on which the
group becomes committed to the purchase or sale of the asset. Financial assets not included in the
category  ‘fair value through profit and loss’ are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs.
They are derecognized when the rights to cash flows from the assets have expired or been transferred
and the group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. Available-for-sale
financial assets and assets in the category ‘fair value through profit and loss’ following initial recog-
nition are valued at fair value. Loans and receivables and financial assets held to maturity are meas-
ured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
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Bericht aus den BeteiligungenRealized and unrealized gains and losses arising on the changes of the fair value of assets classified as
‘fair value through profit and loss’ are recognized through profit and loss in the period in which they
are incurred. Unrealized gains and losses on changes in the fair value of non-monetary securities of
the category ‘available for sale financial assets’ are recognized directly in equity under a reserve for
unrealized gains.When securities of the category “available for sale financial assets”are sold or impai-
red the cumulative fair value adjustments that were recognized in equity are recognized through the
income statement as profit or loss on financial assets.

The fair value of listed investments is determined by reference to current market prices. If a market for
the financial assets is not active, or the assets concerned are not listed, the fair values are established
by using appropriate valuation techniques. These include reference to recent transactions between
independent business partners, the use of current market prices for other assets, which are substan-
tially the same as the asset in question, discounted cash flow analysis, and option pricing models
which take into account the particular circumstances of the issuer.

At each balance sheet date the financial assets or group of financial assets are reviewed for any objec-
tive evidence of impairment. In the case of equity instruments classified as available-for-sale financi-
al assets, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment in an equity instrument
below its acquisition cost is determined by assessing the impairment of the equity instrument. If such
evidence for available-for-sale assets exists, the accumulated losses – measured as the difference bet-
ween acquisition cost and the current fair value less any prior impairment losses recognized on the
particular financial asset, are reversed out of equity and accounted for through profit and loss. Once
the impairments on equity instruments are recognized through profit and loss they are not reversed.

2.14 Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of a past event, it is more likely than not that the settlement of the obligation will lead to an outflow
of resources and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. If a number of simi-
lar obligations exist the probability of an outflow of resources is determined by reference to this set
of obligations. Long-term provisions are discounted.

2.15 Employee benefits
Pension obligations
AURELIUS operates only defined benefit plans.The actuarial valuation of the pension provision for the
retirement benefit scheme is determined in accordance with the method prescribed in IAS 19
(‘Employee Benefits’), the projected unit credit method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at
every balance sheet date. The present value of the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet
date takes into account the known pensions and the vested pension rights, the future increases in
salaries and pensions and the expected income from any scheme assets.

Termination benefits
Termination benefits are paid when the work contract of an employee is terminated before the nor-
mal retirement date or when an employee leaves the company as a result of an offer made in order to
encourage voluntary redundancy. The group recognizes termination payments when it is demonstra-
bly committed to a termination of the employment of a current employee in accordance with a detai-
led formal plan for the termination and is without realistic possibility of withdrawal, or when it is 
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Bericht aus den Beteiligungendemonstrably committed to providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made in order to
encourage voluntary redundancy. Where termination benefits fall due after more than 12 months
after the balance sheet date, they are discounted.

Profit sharing plans and bonuses
In relation to bonus payments and profit sharing plans, a liability and expense is recognized based on
a valuation method which takes into account the profit attributable to the group shareholders after
certain adjustments. The group recognizes a provision when it has a contractual obligation or a con-
structive obligation as a result of past business practice.

2.16 Litigation, claims for damages and contingencies
In the normal course of its business companies in the AURELIUS group are party to various litigation
matters and authority proceedings or such matters could be instituted or asserted in the future. Even
if the outcome of the individual proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty due to the unpre-
dictable nature of the legal disputes, at this time it is believed, based on information currently avail-
able to it, that over and above the risk recognized in the financial statements under liabilities or pro-
visions, there will be no material adverse effect on the earnings of the group. Contingent liabilities
relating to security provided for guarantees have been disclosed separately.

2.17 Liabilities
Liabilities are recognized at amortized cost. For current liabilities this constitutes their redemption or
settlement amount. Non-current liabilities and financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest method. Liabilities from finance leases are disclosed at the present value
of the minimum lease payments.

IAS 32 states that an item qualifies as equity from the businesses point of view only if the item
includes no contractual obligation to repay the capital in the form of cash or another financial asset
in its place. Repayment obligations from a company’s net assets can arise if (minority) shareholders
have a termination right and the exercising of this right entitles the shareholder to compensation
from the group. The capital made available in this manner by minority shareholders is disclosed as a
liability, even if it qualifies as equity under national rules.

Items due within 12 months are disclosed under current items; non-current items are due in more
than one year.

2.18 Significant areas of judgment and estimates
In preparing the consolidated financial statements management makes certain judgments and esti-
mates that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, revenue and expenses and contin-
gent liabilities in the reporting period. The key areas where such judgments and estimates are made
are in the assessment of the carrying value of intangible assets, the group-wide determination of use-
ful economic lives for property, plant, equipment and intangible assets, and the accounting treatment
and valuation of provisions.The assumptions upon which the judgments and estimates are made are
based on the best knowledge available at the time. In particular this takes into account the foresee-
able development of the business in the future and the circumstances prevailing at the time the con-
solidated financial statements were prepared. It also includes realistic assumptions on the develop
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Bericht aus den Beteiligungenment of the environment in the future. If the actual conditions occurring or materializing develop-
ments differ from the assumptions made and these are outside management’s sphere of influence,
the actual amounts could differ from the original estimations.

Our estimates are based on experience and other assumptions which are considered reasonable in
the given circumstances. The actual amounts could differ from the estimates. The estimates and
assumptions undergo continuous review.

In general, estimates of the fair value of assets and liabilities are also made with regard to the acqui-
sition of investment companies. Land and buildings are usually valued in accordance with land value
guidelines or by independent experts, as are plant and machinery, while marketable securities are val-
ued at market value. Depending on the nature and complexity of the asset, intangible assets are
either valued by an independent, external expert or the fair value is determined internally using
appropriate valuation methods which are generally based on forecasts of all future cash flows.
Depending on the nature of the asset and the availability of information, in this context various valu-
ation techniques are employed which can be distinguished in their approach, being cost, market value
or capital value orientated.

AURELIUS considers the estimates made in connection with the estimated useful lives of certain
assets, the assumptions on macroeconomic conditions and the development of the industries in
which AURELIUS operates, and the estimates on the present value of future payments to be reason-
able. At the same time changes in assumptions or circumstances could make corrections necessary.
This could lead to additional impairment losses or even reversals in the future if the developments
expected by AURELIUS reverse.

In accordance with IAS 36 (‘Impairment of Assets’) and IAS 38 (‘Intangible Assets’), goodwill is
reviewed for impairment annually. If events or changes in circumstances arise which indicate possible
impairment the asset is reviewed for impairment more frequently. Goodwill should not be amortized.
Under the impairment reviews AURELIUS compares the net book values of the individual CGU with
their respective recoverable amounts, i.e. the higher of the fair value less costs to sell and its value in
use. In accordance with the definition of a cash generating unit, the strategic business units of AURE-
LIUS are generally determined to be CGUs.

Where the book value of the CGU is higher than the recoverable amount the difference is deemed an
impairment loss. In a first step an impairment loss on the goodwill of the respective CGU is recognized
through profit and loss. Any remaining balance is allocated to the other assets of the respective strate-
gic business unit in proportion to the book values.

The determination of the recoverable amount is based on the present value of future cash flows deriv-
ing from continued use of the strategic business unit and its disposal at the end of its useful life. The
forecast cash flows are based on current budgets of AURELIUS. The cost of capital is calculated as the
weighted average cost of equity and external capital (‘WACC” = “weighted average cost of capital’),
with the respective share of total capital being the determining factor. The costs of equity capital cor-
respond to the expected yield from the respective business areas and are derived from capital market
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Bericht aus den Beteiligungeninformation. AURELIUS bases the costs of external capital on the average costs of external capital of
the respective business areas as this derives from bonds with an average term of 10 years.

The group is required to pay tax on income. Assumptions are necessary in determining the tax provi-
sion.There are business transactions and calculations for which the tax cannot be finalized during the
ordinary course of business.The group measures the amount of the provisions for expected audits by
the tax authorities on the basis of estimates on whether, and to what extent, additional tax will be
due. The extent that the final taxation of these transactions differs from the initial assumption will
have an effect on the actual and deferred taxes in the period in which the final taxation is deter-
mined.

At the time the consolidated financial statements were prepared the underlying judgments and esti-
mates were not subject to any significant risks, so that from today’s point of view no material adjust-
ments to the carrying values of the assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements are
to be expected.

2.19  Financial risk management
Financial risk factors
The group is exposed to various financial risks as a result of its business activities: market risk
(includes the currency risk, the fair-value interest risk and the market price risk), credit risk, liquidity
risk, the risk of fluctuations in cash flows and the cash flow interest risk. The group’s overall risk man-
agement is focused on the unpredictability of the movements in the financial markets and is aimed
at minimizing the potential adverse effects on the group’s financial position.

Risk management is currently carried out on a decentralized basis in the individual operating units.
There are plans to set up a central risk management system within the finance department. In doing
so the Board of Directors will provide in writing both the principles for cross-area risk management
and the guidelines for certain areas, for example the handling of interest rate and currency risks, the
use of derivative and non-derivative financial instruments and the investment of excess liquidity.

Currency risk
In the stub period the company conducted operations almost solely in the euro zone and as a result
was not exposed to any currency risk deriving from the movement in exchange rates of various cur-
rencies.
A currency risk arises when future business transactions, assets or liabilities are denominated in a cur-
rency which differs from the business’s functional currency.

Credit risk
The group is not exposed to a significant concentration of credit risks.

Liquidity risk and the risk of fluctuations in cash flows
Prudent liquidity management includes holding adequate reserves of liquid assets and tradable secu-
rities, having access to financing options through an adequate level of committed lines of credit and 
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Bericht aus den Beteiligungenthe ability to issue equity or debt instruments into the market. Due to the dynamic business environ-
ment in which the group operates it is the objective of the group’s finance department to maintain
the necessary flexibility in finance by having access sufficient unused lines of credit.

2.20  Segment reporting
AURELIUS applies IFRS 8 (‘Operating Segments’) ahead of time, which requires companies to provide
financial and descriptive information about its reportable segments. Reportable segments are oper-
ating segments or aggregations of operating segments that meet specified criteria. An operating seg-
ment is a component of an entity for which discrete financial information is available, whose operat-
ing results are reviewed regularly by the entity’s chief operating decision maker to make decisions
about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance (‘management
approach’). In general the financial information reported must be based on internal reports that are
used to assess the performance of the operating segments and to allocate resources to the segments.
At the same time AURELIUS has also complied with the provisions of IAS 14 in its segment reporting.

AURELIUS organizes its operations according to the main activity (primary segment) and geographi-
cal characteristics (secondary segment).
The primary segments are the divisions ‘Industrial Production’,‘Services and Solutions’ and ‘Other’.The
segment reporting conforms to the accounting policies of the underlying IFRS consolidated financial
statements. Inter-segment consolidation procedures have been carried out.The segment depreciation
includes the amortization and depreciation of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment.
Since AURELIUS’s activities were confined to the Federal Republic of Germany in the stub period
reporting of secondary segments is not meaningful at the moments. No details are therefore provid-
ed on the segments according to geographical markets.
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Bericht aus den Beteiligungen3. Notes to the income statement

3.1 Sales 

The group’s sales are as follows:

3.2 Other operating income

Other operating income is as follows:

(k€)
3/20 - 12/31/2006

Revenue from the sale of goods 9.040

Revenue from the sale of services 12.673

21.713

3/20 - 12/31/200

Income from reversal of negative consolidation differences 1.148

Income from the release of impairments 235

Income from the release of provisions 179

Income from costs passed on to third parties 149

Other 2.012

3.724

(k€)
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3.3 Cost of materials

(k€)
3/20 - 12/31/2006

Raw materials, consumables and supplies 6.358 

Purchased goods 506

Purchased services 1.909

8.774

3.4 Personnel expenses

(k€)
3/20 - 12/31/2006

Wages and salaries 5.850

Social security, pension costs and benefits 1.469

7.318

The disclosure of the income from reversal of negative consolidation differences is done in line with
IFRS 3.56 (b) if the fair value of the acquired identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
exceeds the cost of the business combination. Following a reassessment of the remaining excess it
must be recognized immediately in the income statement as a gain in accordance with IFRS 3.56 (b).
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Bericht aus den Beteiligungen3.5 Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses are as follows:

(k€)
3/20 - 12/31/2006

Building expenses 1,900

Administration expenses 713

Consulting expenses 675

Office supplies 294

Marketing and commission expenses 250

Freight and transport costs 186

Other 1,023

5,041

3.6 Net result from financing activities

Other interest and similar income of k€ 66 relates primarily to the interest earned on current
accounts and term deposits.

The interest and similar expenses of k€ 448 relate primarily to the interest on liabilities to banks.

3.7 Taxes on income

The following reconciliation discloses the differences between the tax expense accounted for and
the theoretical tax expense. The theoretical tax expense is the product of the profit before tax mul-
tiplied by the expected tax rate.The expected tax rate consists of statutory German corporation tax,
solidarity tax and trade tax, and totals 39 %.
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(k€)
3/20 - 12/31/2006

Profit before taxes on income 2,256

Expected rate of taxes on income 39.0 %

Expected tax expense 880

Tax free income -381

Differences in tax rates compared to the group tax rate -109

Actual tax relating to other periods -124

Non-deductible expenses 10

Non-deductible and deductible items for trade tax purposes 18

Other effects -236

Tax expense shown 56

Effective tax rate 2.5 %

Other effects relate largely to tax losses carried forward by Grillo and GHOTEL. The actual tax
expense of k€ 56 includes the current tax expense of k€ 166 and the income from deferred taxes
of k€ 110.

3.8 Profit attributable to minority interests

k€ 261 of the consolidated profit for the period of k€ 2,200 is attributable to minority interests.

The tax expense is as follows:
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Bericht aus den Beteiligungen3.9 Earnings per share

The calculation of the basic and the diluted earnings per share are based on the following data:

(k€)
3/20 - 12/31/2006

1.939

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares 0

Basis for the purpose of diluted earnings per share 1.939

613.450

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: share options 0

613.450

Basic earnings per share (in €) 3,16

Diluted earning per share (in €) 3,16

Dividends

In order to secure the financing of further growth of the still young company, at the annual gene-
ral meeting on June 27, 2007 the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board will propose that no
dividend be paid from AURELIUS AG ´s profit for the period but that the profits will be carried for-
ward.

Number of shares – weighted average number of ordinary shares for
the purposes of basic earnings per share

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of
diluted earnings per share

Basis for the purpose of basic earnings per share (profit for the period 
attributable to the shareholders of the parent company)
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Bericht aus den Beteiligungen4. Notes to the balance sheet

4.1 Intangible assets

Software and licenses
This item primarily includes licenses for operational standard software and systems for customer
care and invoicing. The software is amortized over three to six years, for the main part until
October 2010.

Goodwill
Goodwill derives mainly from the consolidation of equity.

Customer list and trademark rights
In the period ended December 31, 2006 the group accounted for an increase of k€ 3,519 in custo-
mer list following additions to group companies. The customer list is being amortized over 6 to 10
years.

Impairment losses
In the period ended December 31, 2006 there were no indications of impairment losses on licenses,
purchased and self-created software, goodwill, customer list or trademark rights.
In order to comply with the provisions of IFRS 3 in conjunction with IAS 36 and in order to determi-
ne any possible impairment of goodwill, AURELIUS has allocated the goodwill to CGUs in accordan-
ce with internal reporting.

Further details are provided in the fixed assets schedule in appendix 1.

4.2 Property, plant and equipment

Property plant and equipment also includes k€ 2,700 relating to technical plant and machines and
k€ 6,244 relating to factory and office equipment, the ownership of which is attributable to the
group in the underlying leases (finance leases). The contracts relate primarily to DFA Transport und
Logistik GmbH. The objects leased concern mainly vehicles for logistical construction services.

K€ 20,393 of the property, plant and equipment serve as collateral for non-current financial liabi-
lities.

Further details are provided in the fixed assets schedule in appendix 1.
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Bericht aus den Beteiligungen4.4 Inventories

Inventories are as follows:

4.3 Financial assets

Investment in associates
K€ 11 of the financial assets relate to a 33 % holding of Scherpe in Digital Managing Systems GmbH,
Norderstedt.
Further details are provided in the fixed assets schedule in appendix 1.

(k€)
12/31/2006

Raw materials, consumables and supplies 1.234

Work in process 5.506

Finished goods and merchandise 82

6.822

The inventories are valued at the lower of the acquisition or production cost and the net selling
price less costs still to be incurred at the balance sheet date. There were no material impairments
at the balance sheet date.

The raw materials, consumables and supplies relate mainly to Grillo (k€ 650) and Scherpe 
(k€ 509).

The work in process derives from KWE with k€ 2,087 Grillo with k€ 2,418 and Scherpe with 
€ 1,000

The inventories do not serve as collateral for non-current financial liabilities.
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Bericht aus den BeteiligungenBericht aus den Beteiligungen4.5 Receivables from construction contracts
Zusammensetzung 

(k€)
12/31/2006

Finished contract work not yet invoiced 1.962

less progress payments invoiced -393

1.569

Bericht aus den BeteiligungenBericht aus den Beteiligungen4.6 Trade receivables
Zusammensetzung 

(k€)
12/31/2006

Receivables before allowances for bad debt 8.163

Allowances for bad debt -599

7.564

The receivables due on construction contracts relate to steel construction work at KWE.
Construction contracts are measured in accordance with the PoC method. In applying the PoC
method the cost-to-cost approach is used.

Where the accumulated work exceeds the progress payments an asset is disclosed as a receivable
and vice versa a liability. Expected contract losses are taken into account through provisions.

Of the receivables disclosed k€ 2,723 relate to KWE, k€ 1,975 to DFA, k€ 1,599 to Grillo and k€ 660
to Scherpe.
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Other assets include the following:

(k€)
12/31/2006

Tax receivables 622

Prepaid expenses 324

Social security receivables 0

Employee receivables 214

Other 1.171

4.8 Cash and cash equivalents

The amounts disclosed relate primarily to AURELIUS AG (k€ 4,103), GHOTEL (k€ 1,303), DFA 
(k€ 1,007), KWE (k€ 961) and Scherpe (k€ 632).

An amount of k€ 100 is pledged as lien (restricted cash).

4.9 Equity

Subscribed capital
The ordinary share capital of AURELIUS AG of € 613,450 is fully paid in and divided into 613,450 no-
par bearer shares.

In accordance with the authority set out in the articles of incorporation dated March 20, 2006, with
the resolution of September 28, 2006, the group carried out a capital increase from authorized
capital which was entered into the commercial register on November 8, 2006. The capital increase
was performed by the issue of 113,450 ordinary shares so that the number of shares increased to
613,450.

Capital reserves
The capital reserves correspond to the capital reserves of AURELIUS AG. They primarily include the
premium on the capital increase carried out in the financial year 2006 by AURELIUS AG. The capi-
tal reserves include the costs of the capital increase of k€ 8,736 less deferred taxes of k€ 35.
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Bericht aus den Beteiligungen

Minority interests
The minority interests include GHOTEL (k€ 164), DFA (k€ 72), Grillo (k€ 47) and Scherpe (k€ 22).

Authorized capital
The Board of Directors is authorized in accordance with the articles of incorporation dated March
20, 2006, as amended most recently on October 13, 2006, with the approval of the Supervisory
Board, to increase the ordinary share capital in the period up to March 1, 2011, once or in stages, by
a total of k€ 250 by issuing new bearer shares for cash or non-cash consideration. The subscripti-
on rights of the shareholders are precluded. With the approval of the Supervisory Board, the Board
of Directors can take decisions concerning the substance of the share rights, the conditions of the
share issue and the details of the capital increase.
Following the capital increase of k€ 113,450 carried out on November 8, 2006, the authorized capi-
tal at the balance sheet date now amounts to k€ 136,550.

4.10 Pension obligations

The total provision of k€ 8,144 is attributable to Scherpe with k€ 5,102 Grillo with k€ 2,597 and
KWE with k€ 445.

The movement in the present value of the of the pension obligations arising from defined benefit
plans of the companies in the AURELIUS group is as follows:

(k€)
Balance 3/20 0

Additions to the group 8,132

Interest expense 116

Current service costs 20

Benefits paid -124

Balance 12/31 8,144
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Bericht aus den BeteiligungenThe amount of the pension provision can be reconciled as follows:

(k€)
12/31/2006

Present value of the pension obligations 8,066

Unrecognized actuarial gains 78

8,144

The pension expense in the financial period includes the following:

(k€)
12/31/2006

Interest cost - increase in the present value of the obligation 116

Current service cost 20

Total pension expense 136

The calculation is based on the following actuarial assumptions:

(k€)
3/20 -  12/31/2006

Discount rate 4,25 %

Rate of increase in salaries 0,00 - 2,00 %

Rate of increase in pensions 2,00 %

Fluctuation 4,00 %
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(k€)
Employee-related 0 1.835 -259 -9 374 1.941

Restructuring 0 1.302 -61 -125 22 1.139 

Other current provisions 0 1.323 -765 -13 379 924

Warranties 0 206 -19 0 19 205

Other non-current provisions 0 1.626 -180 -53 657 2.049

0 6.291 -1.285 -200 1.451 6.257

4.11 Provisions

The restructuring provisions of k€ 1,139 relates to provisions for employee-related measures of 
k€ 466 and k€ 673 for the dismantling of closed production lines, in particular at Grillo and KWE.

The warranty provisions of k€ 205 primarily concern the companies KWE, Scherpe and Grillo.

The following key measures were taken into account in connection with the employee-related pro-
vision of k€ 1,941:

- Leave due but not yet taken by 12/31/2006: k€ 824
- Bonuses for the companies: k€ 161
- Remuneration for flexible working hours in the companies: k€ 135
- Phased retirement scheme: k€ 551
- Long service awards: k€ 269

The other provisions of k€ 2,973 consist largely of outstanding invoices of k€ 847 and dismantling
expenses of k€ 685, tax provisions of v 470, provisions form the ERA fund of k€ 220 and various
individual obligations.

3/20/2006 Charge for 
the period

Released in
period

Utilized in
period

Changes in
group 

companies

21/31/2006
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Bericht aus den Beteiligungen
The provisions are due as follows:

(k€)
12/31/2006

Non-current provisions 2.049

Current provisions 4.208

6.257

The liabilities to banks and leasing companies due in over 12 months relate largely to leasing liabi-
lities at DFA and Grillo.

K€ 7 of the amount disclosed is due in over 5 years.

Bericht aus den BeteiligungenBericht aus den Beteiligungen4.12 Non-currentfinancial liabilities

(k€)
12/31/2006

Liabilities to banks and leasing companies 5.315

Other financial liabilities 9.703

15.018
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4.14 Finance lease liabilities

The group’s property, plant and equipment includes technical plant and machines the ownership of
which is attributable to the group as a result of the type of leasing contracts involved (finance lea-
ses). The group has the following finance lease liabilities in2006:

4.13 Non-current other liabilities
Non-current other liabilities comprise solely commitments relating to purchase price adjustment
clauses (“earn-outs”) which will probably be incurred, these deriving from the acquisition of interests
in businesses.

(k€) Nominal value Discount Present value

Year 2006

Due in up to 1 year 4.674 221 4.453

Due in 1 – 5 years 5.221 684 4.537

Due in more than 5 years 7 2 5

Total 9.902 907 8.995

The group’s material leasing contracts include contracts for trucks at DFA, disclosed under factory
and office equipment and automatic production machinery at Grillo, disclosed under technical
plant and machines. The corresponding net book values of the property, plant and equipment are
k€ 6,244 at DFA and k€ 2,700 at Grillo.
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Deferred tax arises as a result of the differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabili-
ties in the IFRS financial statements and the corresponding tax basis of the respective group com-
pany and as a result of consolidation measures.

Deferred tax assets

(k€)
12/31/2006

Provisions 690

Total deferred tax assets 690

of which current 0

of which non-current 690

Deferred tax liabilities

(k€)
12/31/2006

Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 2.257

Inventories 119

Total deferred tax liabilities 2.376

of which current 119

of which non-current 2.257
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Bericht aus den BeteiligungenNo deferred tax assets have been recognized in respect of the corporation tax and trade tax loss carry
forwards at the individual companies. The total loss carry forwards for corporation tax amount to 
k€ 16,663 and for trade tax k€ 10,398. Taxable profits in Germany can only be offset against corpo-
ration tax and trade tax losses carried forward up to k€ 1,000 in full and above this at 60 % (mini-
mum taxation). These tax losses are not subject to any time limit in principle, however, since
12/13/2006, they are no longer eligible for transfer to other companies by means of mergers or simi-
lar transactions.

In general deferred tax assets are not recognized at the acquisition date for existing tax losses car-
ried forward on the acquisition of a business, an exception being up to the amount of deferred tax
liabilities to be recognized for the first time on the initial consolidation of Grillo. A review is conduc-
ted at the balance sheet date to assess whether the tax losses can be utilized in the future. As a result
of the special features of the AURELIUS business model, the capitalization of tax losses carried for-
ward is limited to a planning period of one year. Tax losses which were realized in the financial year
2006 were also not capitalized due to planning uncertainties.

4.16 Current financial liabilities

The current financial liabilities relate primarily to DFA (k€ 4,394) and Grillo (k€ 758) and comprise in
the main installments on leasing contracts which are due within one year.

4.17 Trade payables

The trade payables are due to third parties. They are recognized at nominal or redemption value and
are all due within one year.

The total trade payables disclosed of k€ 6,520 relate primarily to Grillo (k€ 2,836), KWE (k€ 2,080),
Scherpe (k€ 561) and GHOTEL (k€ 354).

General part 4-9
Management discussion and analysis 10-32
Corporate governance 33-35
Consolidated income statement 37
Consolidated balance sheet 38-39
Consolidated cash flow statement 40-41
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(k€)
12/31/2006

Other taxes 895

Wages and salaries 401

Social security 267

Deferred income 97

Other 3,770

Total 5,430
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Bericht aus den Beteiligungen5. Other disclosures

(k€)
2006     
Group sales 12,492 9,040 182 21,713

Interest income 12 9 45 66

Interest expense -199 -249 0 -448

Profit before taxes 1,483 1,117 -344 2,256

Taxes on income -145 76 14 -56

Segment results 1,337 1,193 -330 2,200

Consolidated profit attributable to minority interests -102 -159 0 -261

Consolidated profit for the period 1,235 1,034 -330 1,939

Balance sheet

Group assets 25,382 32,967 4,181 62,531

Group liabilities 19,130 30,828 1,015 50,973

Other information

•Capital expenditure 266 692 96 1,054

•Capital expenditure for acquisitions 5,616 592 137 6,346

•Depreciation -983 -591 -5 -1,579

•Impairment losses through profit and loss -73 -140 0 -213

5.1 Segment reporting

The business is divided into the segments “Industrial Production”, “Services & Solutions” and
“Other”. The segment “Industrial Production” currently includes Scherpe (specialized printing) and
Grillo (metal work).The segment “Services & Solutions” consists of DFA (specialized logistics), GHO-
TEL (hotel trade) and KWE (steel construction services). The segment “Other” mainly comprises the
holding companies. In the reporting period there were no material inter-segment sales. Details of
the segments are as follows:

Services &    Industrial  
Solutions     Production     Other     Consolidated
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Bericht aus den BeteiligungenThe following table contains an analysis of sales according to geographical markets, irrespective of
the source of the goods and services:

(k€)
3/20 – 12/31/2006

Germany 19.919

Europe – European Union 1.720

Europe – Other 74

21.713

In the financial year since their initial consolidation, the investment companies in the Industrial
Production segment have earned k€ 2,490 with the customer Siemens and in the segment
Services and Solutions k€ 6,050 with Wismut AG.

5.2 Cash flow statement

The cash flow statement shows the movement in cash and cash equivalents of AURELIUS in the
reporting period. The cash flows have been classified in accordance with IAS 7 into cash inflows and
cash outflows from operating activities, investing activities and financing activities.

The AURELIUS group is characterized by strong growth, with growth deriving primarily from the
acquisition of companies which are currently undergoing restructuring and realignment. Therefore
itn should be noted with regard to the depiction of the cash flow that the cash flow statement
eliminates the changes which result from the additions to the group. As such changes in working
capital will only be recorded in the movement of funds from the time of the initial consolidation.

The cash and cash equivalents of € k€ 8,250 comprise the balance sheet item cash and cash equiv-
alents containing checks, cash in hand, bank balances and financial instruments with an original
maturity of up to three months. Included in the cash and cash equivalents are k€ 100 which are not
available to AURELIUS in its operations since it serves as collateral for liabilities.

AURELIUS paid k€ 6,346 for new acquisitions of companies in 2006. This compared to cash pur-
chased of k€ 3,999. Overall the acquisition of companies led to a decrease in cash and cash equiv-
alents of k€ 2,347 in 2006.

Information on the acquisitions and sales of companies is provided in section 5.3 “Explanations on
the acquisition of businesses”.
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5.3 Explanations on the acquisition of businesses

Details of the companies acquired in the financial year 2006 have been presented in aggregate as
defined in IFRS 3.68.

In the past financial period DFA Transport und Logistik GmbH, Ronneburg (specialized logistics),
Richard Scherpe Group (“Scherpe” – specialized printing applications), GHOTEL Group (hotels and
apartment buildings), Grill Peißenberg GmbH (metal work) and KWE (steel construction services)
were acquired and integrated into the group.

The purchase price for the companies acquired was k€ 8,310. Of this, k€ 6,346 was paid in cash and
k€ 1,964 is treated as additional acquisition costs in respect of a price adjustment clause which will
probably become effective. The secondary acquisition costs included in the purchase price amount
to k€ 69. This cash flow and the acquired assets and liabilities led to negative consolidation differ-
ences of k€ 1,148, which were recognized through profit and loss within other operating income.
Details of the movement in the acquired goodwill of k€ 2,089 are provided in the fixed assets
schedule.

The profits of the companies acquired from the point of their initial consolidation until 12/31/2006
amounted to k€ 1,232. This includes any start-up and takeover losses as well as restructuring loss-
es. It does not include the other operating income relating to the reversal of negative consolidation
differences (see appendix). The contributions to profits from January 1, 2006 up to the acquisition
date were not determined since these results were irrelevant for the consolidation. A retroactive
adjustment to January 1, 2006 was not carried out due to the nature of the business model since
the restructuring measures introduced mean that the figures for the months prior to restructuring
are not comparable to those after, and this would then lead to a misrepresentation of results.
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(k€)   Buchwerte Fair Value
12/31/2006

Intangible assets 135 3,644

Land 4,007 4,681

Buildings 11,224 14,197

Technical plant and machines 3,791 4,658

Other assets 9,967 9,967

Non-current assets 29,124 37,147

Inventories 6,489 6,489

Trade receivables 10,279 10,279

Other assets 1,360 1,360

Cash and cash equivalents 3,999 3,999

Current assets 22,127 22,127

Provisions 9,758 9,578

Trade payables 8,809 8,809

Other liabilities 26,445 26,445

Deferred tax liabilities 2,040 2,040

Liabilities 47,051 47,051

Net assets 4,200 12,223

The cash and cash equivalents acquired amount to k€ 3,999 which meant that net cash outflow tota-
led k€ 2,347.

No business divisions were discontinued or sold as part of the company acquisitions.
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Bericht aus den BeteiligungenAcquisitions after 31.12.2006
With the transfer of control on March 10, 2007 AURELIUS purchased all the shares in Sauer Danfoss
(Berching) GmbH, Berching, (now Schabmüller GmbH) so that this company is included in the consoli-
dated financial statements from this date onwards. Schabmüller GmbH is a worldwide leading manu-
facturer of electric drives solutions. Since negotiations are still continuing at this point in time, no details
on the final purchase price can be provided.

On April 3, 2007 KarstadtQuelle AG and AURELIUS signed contracts on the purchase of the French Quelle
S.A.S. This was carried out after the hearing process with local work councils and trade-unions, which is
statutory in France, was successfully concluded and therewith the last formal demand for a signing of
the contract had been met. The completion of the sale is conditional on the approval of the French
Central Bank since with the sale of Quelle S.A.S. an interest in CDGP, a bank specialized in consumer cred-
its, is also being sold. This approval process may take up to several months and had not been complet-
ed by the time the consolidated financial statements were being prepared.

5.4 Other financial commitments

Other financial commitments at the balance sheet date relate in particular to rental and leasing con-
tracts for buildings, land, machines, tools, office and other fixtures and fittings. The future payments
under non-cancellable contracts fall due as follows:

(k€) 
12/31/2006

Rental and leasing commitment due 

• within one year 6,178

• between two and five years 13,980

• after five years 4,547

Other commitments due

• within one year 293

• between two and five years 138

• after five years 0
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Bericht aus den BeteiligungenThe other financial commitments total k€ 25,137. The operating lease commitments total k€ 24,705
and relate mainly to building contracts at GHOTEL.

5.5 Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities at the balance sheet date amount to k€ 1,320 (KWE). They relate to advance pay-
ment guarantees, performance bonds, and guarantees to safeguard phased retirement scheme cred-
its.
It is not possible to foresee at the moment when contingent liabilities might be actually incurred.

5.6 Boards of the company

Board of Directors
The following persons were members of the Board of Directors in the stub period 2006:

- Dr. Dirk Markus (Chairman), Director, Feldafing (since March 20, 2006)
- Gert Purkert, Director, Munich (since March 20, 2006)

Other management board memberships of the directors primarily include functions on supervisory
boards and boards of directors at subsidiaries of AURELIUS AG. Details of other functions held by the
directors in management boards as of 12/31/2006 are as follows:

- Dr. Dirk Markus:

Member of the Supervisory Board:
• AURELIUS Beteiligungs AG (Chairman of the Supervisory Board)
• Lotus AG (Chairman of the Supervisory Board)
• Geyer AG (Chairman of the Supervisory Board)
• Investunity AG (Chairman of the Supervisory Board)
• SMT Scharf AG (Chairman of the Supervisory Board)

Director/Partner:
• AURLIUS Investkapital AG
• AURELIUS Management GmbH
• Hirmer Verlag GmbH
• OK Cable Gesellschaft für Kabel- und Verbindungsdienste mbH
• Time Beteiligungs AG
• Verlagsgruppe Kunstbücher (VGK) GmbH
• WS 2023 Vermögensverwaltung GmbH
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- Mr. Gert Purkert

Member of the Supervisory Board:
• AURELIUS Metallholding AG (Chairman of the Supervisory Board)
• Geyer AG (Chairman of the Supervisory Board)

Director/Partner:
• AURELIUS Investkapital AG
• AURELIUS Beteiligungs AG
• AURELIUS Growth Holding GmbH
• AURELIUS Industriebeteiligungen GmbH
• AURELIUS Industriekapital GmbH
• AURELIUS Industries AG
• AURELIUS Logistik Holding GmbH
• AURELIUS Value Holding GmbH
• AURELIUS Wertbeteiligungen GmbH
• DFA Transport und Logistik GmbH
• GHOTEL GmbH Hotel & Living (formerly Deutsche Post Wohnen GmbH)
• Equinet EarlyStage Capital Fonds Nr.1 Management OHG
• GHOTEL Deutschland GmbH
• GHOTEL Germany GmbH
• GHOTEL Hotel and Boardinghaus Deutschland GmbH
• TIVEN GmbH

Supervisory Board
The following persons were members of the Supervisory Board in the stub period 2006:

- Dirk Roesing
(Chairman of the Supervisory Board), Director, Munich (since May 4, 2006)

Director/Partner:
• SHS Viveon AG (Chairman of the Board of Directors)
• SHS Deutschland GmbH (Director)
• DRM GmbH (Director)

- Eugen Angster
(Deputy Chairman), Director, Munich (since March 20, 2006)

Director/Partner:
• Interim International GmbH
• BRSI (Bundesvereinigung Restrukturierung, Sanierung und Interim Management)
(Chairman of the Board of Directors)
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Bericht aus den BeteiligungenMember of the Supervisory Board:
VOICE.TRUST AG

- Sven Fritsche
Lawyer, Munich (since March 20, 2006)

Director/Partner:
• RP RICHTER & PARTNER

Member of the Supervisory Board:
• Buchanan Wertgrund Immobilien AG
• Investunity AG
• Schöne Aussicht Liegenschaftsverwaltung AG

- Ulrich Radlmayr
(Chairman of the Supervisory Board),
Lawyer, Schondorf am Ammersee (from March 20 to April 15, 2006)

Director/Partner:
• AURELIUS Logistik Holding GmbH
• AURELIUS Metallholding AG
• AURELIUS Media Holding GmbH
• AURELIUS Wertinvest AG
• Aurelius Beteiligungs Holding GmbH
• lakeview management GmbH
• MS Mining Solutions GmbH

Member of the Supervisory Board:
• Geyer AG (Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board)
• SMT Scharf AG (Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board)
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5.7 Compensation report in accordance with numbers 4.2.5 and 5.4.7 DCGK

Compensation of the management boards
The compensation for the members of the Board of Directors of AURELIUS AG in the financial year
2006 amounted to k€ 18 each for Dr. Dirk Markus and Gert Purkert in the form of fixed salaries. In addi-
tion to this, Dr. Dirk Markus and Gert Purkert hold a significant stake in the shares of AURELIUS AG and
participate in rising prices on selling these shares.

The Board of Directors has not currently been granted any additional compensation, pension provi-
sions or share-based payments.

The members of the Supervisory Board received compensation totaling k€ 18 in the financial year
2006.

No advances or loans were extended to the management boards of the parent company or sub-
sidiaries of AURELIUS AG, neither were any contingent liabilities entered into for this group of persons.

Shareholdings of the management boards
The direct and indirect shareholdings of the members of the Board of Directors of AURELIUS AG at the
balance sheet date amount to 44.83 % of the shares issued. Of this 220,001 or 35.86 % are directly and
indirectly attributable to Dr. Dirk Markus and 55,001 or 8.97 % directly and indirectly to Gert Purkert.

The members of the Supervisory Board held 13,925 shares or 2.27% at the balance sheet date.

Currently there are no options held by members of the management boards of AURELIUS AG.
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Fully consolidated companies Registered 
office

Interests Equity

% (k€)

AURELIUS Beteiligungs AG Munich 100.00 362

AURELIUS Beteiligungsholding GMBH Munich 100.00 24

AURELIUS Growth Holding GMBH Munich 100.00 1,085

AURELIUS Industriebeteiligungen GMBH Munich 100.00 57

AURELIUS Industriekapital GMBH Munich 100.00 24

AURELIUS Industries AG Munich 100.00 49

AURELIUS Investkapital AG Munich 100.00 -12

AURELIUS Logistik Holding GMBH Munich 100.00 1,149

AURELIUS Management GMBH Munich 100.00 -62

AURELIUS Media Holding GMBH Munich 100.00 -3

AURELIUS Metallholding AG Munich 100.00 48

AURELIUS Value Holding GMBH Munich 100.00 12

AURELIUS Wertbeteiligungen GMBH Munich 100.00 24

DFA Transport und Logistik GMBH Ronneburg 98.00 3,014

GHOTEL Deutschland GMBH Bonn 83.00 25

GHOTEL Germany GMBH Bonn 83.00 25

5.8 Companies included in the consolidated financial statements

The following subsidiaries and associated undertakings have been included in the consolidated
financial statements of the AURELIUS:
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Fully consolidated companies

GRILLO Peißenberg GmbH Peißenberg 82.00 1,367

HWD Druck GmbH Düren 95.00 61

KWE Ludwigshafen Stahl- und Industriebau GmbH Ludwigshafen 100.00 26

KWE Stahl- und Industriebau GmbH & Co. KG Wesseling 100.00 2,255

M.T.P. Holding GmbH Peißenberg 82.00 -548

Richard Scherpe GmbH & CO. KG Krefeld 95.00 465

Richard Scherpe GmbH& CO. KG Düren 95.00 -405

Richard Scherpe Grafische Betriebe GmbH Norderstedt 95.00 48

Scherpe Verwaltung GmbH Krefeld 95.00 40

Companies not consolidated due 
to immateriality

KWE Stahl- und Industriebau Beteiligungs GmbH Wesseling 100.00 33

Digital Managing Systems GmbH Kiel 33.33 27

Assoziierte Unternehmen

Registered 
office

Interests Equity

%                    (k€)
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Bericht aus den Beteiligungen5.9  Related party disclosures

According to IAS 24 related parties are defined as persons or entities which can be influenced by
the reporting entity or which can influence this entity. This includes parties which are controlled by
or control the reporting entity and associated entities. It also includes natural persons with signif-
icant influence over voting rights, members of key management personnel (Board of Directors and
Supervisory Board) and close members of their families. IAS 24.10 requires that attention be direct-
ed to the economic substance of the relationship.

From AURELIUS’s standpoint, as well as those named under 5.8 and the entities included in the
consolidated financial statements, related persons and companies include the Board of Directors
and Supervisory Board of AURELIUS AG and close members of their families and those entities over
which they have significant influence.

Significant transactions between the group and related parties relate to a bridging loan granted
by Investunity AG (a company in which Dr. Markus acts as Chairman of the Supervisory Board) to
AURELIUS Investkapital AG (principal k€ 600, interest rate 5.5 % p.a.), a bridging loan granted by
Investunity AG to AURELIUS Logistik Holding GmbH (principal  k€ 1,750, interest rate 6.0 % p.a.) and
a bridging loan granted by Lotus AG (company of Dr. Markus) to AURELIUS Beteiligungs AG (princi-
pal  k€ 1,000, interest rate 6.0 % p.a.). All the loans were granted and repaid in full during the year.
The compensation of key management personnel is disclosed in the compensation report under
5.7.

5.10 Employees 

AURELIUS employed an average of 279 members of staff in the financial year 2006. Of these, 185
were wage earners and 94 salaried employees. As of 12/31/2006 659 members of staff were
employed.

5.11 Declaration of conformity with German Corporate Governance Code

The Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board of AURELIUS AG issued the declaration required
by § 161 AktG  on April 30, 2007 and in addition to this have published the information to the share-
holders on a continuous basis on the company’s homepage under www.aureliusinvest.de. Details
of the deviations are documented there accordingly.

5.12 Disclosures in accordance with §160 (1) no. 8 AktG in conjunction
with § 25 and § 15 WpHG

In the financial year 2006 the following reports were issued concerning the transgression of lim-
its of the share of voting rights in accordance with § 20 AktG:
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On March 21, 2006 Lotus AG, Feldafing, reported in accordance with § 20 (4) AktG that it held a
majority interest in AURELIUS AG. This holding has existed since March 20, 2006 (date of the foun-
dation of AURELIUS AG) and constituted a total of 78 % of the voting rights.

On May 31, 2006 Lotus AG, Feldafing, reported in accordance with § 20 (5) AktG that since May 31,
2006 it no longer held a majority interest in AURELIUS AG. In addition, in accordance with § 20 (1)
AktG it also reported that it held more than a quarter of the shares of AURELIUS AG.

Lotus AG is the company of Dr. Markus, Chairman of the Board of Directors.

5.13 Significant events after the balance sheet date

Acquisitions
With the transfer of control on March 10, 2007, AURELIUS purchased Sauer Danfoss (Berching)
GmbH, Berching, so that this company is included in the consolidated financial statements from
this date onwards.

On April 3, 2007 KarstadtQuelle AG and AURELIUS signed contracts on the purchase of the French
Quelle S.A.S. The completion of the sale is conditional on the approval of the French Central Bank
and this had not been completed by the time the consolidated financial statements were being
prepared.

In a contract and with the resolutions dated November 30, 2006, followed by entry in the commer-
cial register on March 12, 2007, AURELIUS Investkapital AG was merged with AURELIUS Value
Holding GmbH.

5.14 Authorization of issue of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with IAS 10.17

These consolidated financial statements were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on May
16, 2007. The consolidated financial statements can be amended by the annual general meeting of
shareholders.

Munich, May 15, 2007

Dr. Dirk Markus Gert Purkert
Chairman of the Board of Director Director
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We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by AURELIUS AG, Munich, – com-
prising the income statement, the balance sheet, cash flow statement, statement of changes in equi-
ty, and the notes to the consolidated financial statements – and the group directors’ report for the
stub period from March 20 to December 31, 2006. The preparation of the consolidated financial state-
ments and the group directors’ report in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the EU, and the additional requirements of German commercial law
pursuant to § 315a (1) HGB and supplementary provisions of the articles of incorporation are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the con-
solidated financial statements and on the group directors’ report based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with § 317 HGB
(German Commercial Code) and German generally accepted standards for the audit of financial
statements promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer. Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audit such that misstatements materially affecting the presentation of the net
assets, financial position and results of operations in the consolidated financial statements in accor-
dance with the applicable financial reporting framework and in the group directors’ report are
detected with reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the business activities and the economic and
legal environment of the Group and expectations as to possible misstatements are taken into
account in the determination of audit procedures. The effectiveness of the accounting-related inter-
nal control system and the evidence supporting the disclosures in the consolidated financial state-
ments and the group directors’ report are examined primarily on a test basis within the framework
of the audit. The audit includes assessing the annual financial statements of those entities included
in consolidation, the determination of entities to be included in consolidation, the accounting and
consolidation principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements and the group directors’ report. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Our audit has not led to any reservations with the exception of the following: contrary to IFRS 3 enti-
ty-specific disclosures on the entities acquired were not made.
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In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the con¬solidated financial statements of AURE-
LIUS AG, Munich, with the above exception, comply with IFRS, as adopted by the EU, the additional
requirements of German commercial law pursuant to § 315a (1) HGB and supplementary provisions
of the articles of incorporation and give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and
results of operations of the Group in accordance with these requirements. The group directors’ report
is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and as a whole provides a suitable view of
the Group’s position and suitably presents the opportunities and risks of future development.

Munich, May 15, 2007

Deloitte & Touche GmbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

/s/ Aumann /s/ Kettler
Wirtschaftsprüfer Wirtschaftsprüferin
[German Public Accountant] [German Public Accountant]
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(k€)
Intangible assets

Software and licenses 0 847 55 0 0 902

Goodwill 0 0 2,089 0 0 2,089

Customer list and trademarks 0 3,519 0 0 0 3,519

Total intangible assets 0 4,366 2,144 0 0 6,510

Property, plant and equipment

Land and land rights 0 4,834 0 0 0 4,834

0 20,472 4 0 0 20,476

Technical plant and machines 0 20,528 258 -1 28 20,813

0 18,773 370 -390 0 18,753

0 28 368 0 -28 368

0 64,635 1,000 -391 0 65,244

Financial assets

Shares in associated undertakings 0 1 0 0 0 11

Total financial assets 0 11 0 0 0 11

Total fixed assets 0 69,012 3,144 -391 0 71,765

Acquisition or production costs

Buildings incl. buildings on third
party land

Other equipment, factory and
office equipment
Payments on account and
assets under construction
Total property, plant and
equipment

Anlagevermögen als Sicherheiten für Finanzverbindlichkeiten

3/20/2006 Additions to
the group

Additions Disposals Reclassifica-
tions

12/31/2006
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(k€)
Intangible assets

Software and licenses 0 -721 -20 0 -741 161

Goodwill 0 0 0 0 0 2,089

Customer list and trademarks 0 0 -133 0 -133 3,386

Total intangible assets 0 -721 -153 0 -874 5,636

Property, plant and equipment

Land and land rights 0 -153 0 0 -153 4,681

0 -6,276 -168 0 -6,444 14,032

Technical plant and machines 0 -15,871 -381 1 -16,251 4,562

0 -11,049 -877 348 -11,578 7,175

0 0 0 0 0 368

0 -33,349 -1,426 349 -34,426 30,818

Financial assets

Shares in associated undertakings 0 0 0 0 0 11

Total financial assets 0 0 0 0 0 11

Total fixed assets 0 -34,070 -1,579 349 -35,300 36,465

Net book
value

Depreciation

Buildings incl. buildings on third
party land

Other equipment, factory and
office equipment
Payments on account and
assets under construction

3/20/2006 Additions to
the group

Additions Disposals Reclassifica-
tions

Total property, plant and
equipment
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